

Studies towards advancing reproductive development in giant grouper (Epinephelus lanceolatus Bloch) using recombinant hormone manipulation

Palma, Peter

https://research.usc.edu.au/esploro/outputs/graduate/Studies-towards-advancing-reproductive-development-in/99450633402621/filesAndLinks?index =0

Palma, P. (2018). Studies towards advancing reproductive development in giant grouper (Epinephelus lanceolatus Bloch) using recombinant hormone manipulation [University of the Sunshine Coast, Queensland]. https://doi.org/10.25907/00358 Document Type: Thesis

UniSC Research Bank: https://research.usc.edu.au research-repository@usc.edu.au It's your responsibility to determine if additional rights or permissions are needed for your use. Downloaded On 2024/05/04 18:14:01 +1000

Studies towards advancing reproductive development in giant grouper (*Epinephelus lanceolatus Bloch*) using recombinant hormone manipulation

Peter Palma

B. Sc. in Fisheries

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of *Master of Science*



Faculty of Science, Health, Education and Engineering University of the Sunshine Coast Maroochydore DC, Queensland, Australia

January 2018

Abstract

Groupers are an economically significant commodity owing to the major portion they occupy in the live reef fish trade (LRFT). The giant grouper *E. lanceolatus* is one of the most soughtafter grouper species in the LRFT, and is also a favoured culture species due to its fast growth rate. Captive breeding of giant grouper, however, is challenging due to its large size at sexual maturation, where females mature at 20 kg while males can reach more than 100 kg body weight. Thus, handling is complicated and operational cost is more expensive due to larger facility and additional food and labour required. Giant grouper matures at a late age (~4 years) hence a long period of broodstock conditioning is required before spawning is achieved. In addition, being protogynous hermaphrodites, initially maturing as female and then changing into male, securing broodstock of both sexes is challenging. This thesis is aimed at inducing early sexual maturation in giant grouper using recombinant hormone manipulation so that captive breeding could be done with a younger and smaller broodstock.

In the first part of this thesis, the role of follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) in the reproductive development of groupers was examined. FSH is a pituitary glycoprotein hormone that is involved in the early stages of oogenesis and spermatogenesis as previously shown in gonochoristic fish species. A recombinant giant grouper follicle stimulating hormone (rggFSH) was produced using the yeast *Pichia pastoris* expression system. *In vitro* homologous receptor assay and ovarian tissue assay confirmed its receptor binding capacity and steroidogenic potency. Its effects on gonadal development was then examined using sexually immature tiger grouper *E. fuscoguttatus* injected weekly over a period of 38 weeks. Results have shown that rggFSH treatment stimulated oocyte growth and development but only up to cortical alveolar stage, after which it promoted female to male sex reversal. The rggFSH appeared to have initiated sex reversal via a steroid-independent pathway because androgenic activity was suppressed in the treated fish. Although the prolonged administration of rggFSH led to the onset of sex reversal, spermatogonial cells remained largely undifferentiated. This study has shown that rggFSH can be used to advance reproductive development and transition to male in immature grouper.

In the second part of this thesis, an oral delivery of FSH was assessed as an alternative administration method to induce early sexual maturation in grouper. A DNA expression construct encoding giant grouper FSH (pFSH) was synthesized. Single oral administration of liposome- and chitosan-encapsulated pFSH on sexually immature tiger grouper resulted in a significant increase in plasma FSH protein levels, indicating successful passage of pFSH through the digestive system and subsequent expression *in vivo*. Weekly oral administration of pFSH to sexually immature tiger grouper for 38 weeks initially resulted in increased oocyte size and more advanced developmental stage. Similar to the result in the first study, pFSH treatment promoted oocyte development only up to the cortical alveolar stage. Prolonged administration initiated sex reversal, which has also remained at the early transition phase. This study showed that pFSH can be orally delivered and yield the same effect as intramuscular injection of the recombinant FSH protein.

Results of this research demonstrates that in a protogynous hermaphrodite, FSH modulates both the process of sexual maturation and sex reversal. In the immature grouper, FSH promotes oogenesis up to the cortical alveolar stage, and then initiates sex reversal thereafter. These developmental changes can be induced either by intramuscular administration of recombinant FSH protein or through oral administration of encapsulated plasmid FSH. Knowledge obtained in this study can be applied towards obtaining younger grouper broodstock of both sexes for captive breeding.

Declaration of Originality

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own original work and has not been submitted in any form for another degree or diploma at any university or other institute of tertiary education. To the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made.

Peter Palma January 2018

Acknowledgements

"The Lord is my light and my salvation; whom shall I fear? The Lord is the strength of my life; of whom shall I be afraid?"

-Psalm of David 27:1

I am humbled by the help and support that I received from many people throughout the course of my masters. This thesis would not have been possible without you. I'd like to express my deepest sense of gratitude in particular to:

- Prof. Abigail Elizur, my mentor, for believing in me. I am thankful for the science that
 I learned and even more so for the self confidence that you unknowingly built in me.
 You've shown unparalleled passion for science that will always inspire me as I pursue
 my career in research.
- Dr. Josephine Nocillado, my other mentor, for guiding and teaching me so many things in life inside and outside the research labs. I salute your dedication to your work and your students. *Salamat*!
- The Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research through Project No. FIS/1012/101 (granted to Prof. Abigail Elizur) and John Allwright Fellowship for the financial support.
- Drs. Felix and Evelyn Grace Ayson, my mentors at SEAFDEC/AQD, for opening this opportunity to meet Abigail and study at USC. I am grateful for the trust and all the support that you've extended.
- The staff of SEAFDEC/AQD. From Marine Finfish Hatchery: Joshua Superio, Gardel Xyza Libunao, Marry Dianne Arnaldo, and Josielou Chan for the technical assistance during the conduct of the experiments and sample analyses; Armando Gamuza, Joel Jimenez and Robert Fuentes for taking good care of my experimental fish. From Microtechnique Laboratory: Haydee Rose Dumaran and Mrs. Gregoria Erazo-Pagador for the assistance in histological analyses.
- Dr. Sammie Goodwin for the assistance in biofermentor work. Dr. Ido Bar and Dr. Kelli Anderson for the assistance in bioinformatics analysis.
- Chieu, Kuong, Luu, Son, Nhut, Giang, Tuan and the rest the members of Vietnamese Association in Sunshine Coast, and Oom, Ajith, Erica and Maya for being warm and welcoming. Thank you for the company and the friendship.
- Deanna Mahonney for being my mother here in Australia. Thank you for looking after me this past two years. You and Sarah welcomed me into your home, and I can't thank you enough.
- My family in the Philippines for being my number one supporter. My mother, Lani Palma, for all the love and understanding. You're all the best!
- My partner, Jon Irish Aquino, for keeping me motivated. Thank you for the love and support; I never felt alone despite being far and away. I love you!

Peter Palma

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Declaration of Originality	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Figures	vi
List of Tables	vii
List of Gene Acronyms	viii
Chapter 1 General introduction and literature review	1
1.1. Grouper aquaculture, fishery and biology	1
1.2. Reproductive physiology of fish	3
1.3. Control of fish reproduction using gonadotropins	6
1.4. Conclusion	10
1.5. Objectives	10
1.6. References	11
Chapter 2 Induction of early sexual maturation in juvenile tiger grouper Epiner	ohelus
fuscoguttatus using recombinant follicle-stimulating hormone	20
2.1. Abstract	20
2.2. Introduction	21
2.3. Materials and methods	23
2.4. Results	
2.5. Discussion	41
2.6. Acknowledgement	46
2.7. References	47
Chapter 3 Oral delivery of plasmid follicle stimulating hormone for induction o	f gonadal
development in tiger grouper Epinephelus fuscoguttatus	53
3.1. Abstract	53
3.2. Introduction	54
3.3. Materials and methods	56
3.4. Results	60
3.5. Discussion	68
3.6. Acknowledgement	72
3.7. References	73
Chapter 4 Final conclusions	

List of Figures

Fig. 2.1.	Construction of the expression vector for the giant grouper FSH and FSHR.		
Fig. 2.2.	Luciferase activity in response to rggFSH-stimulation during <i>in vitro</i> receptor binding assay.		
Fig. 2.3.	<i>In vitro</i> sex steroid secretion of grouper ovarian fragments in response to rggFSH-stimulation.	32	
Fig. 2.4.	Effect of rggFSH-treatment on GSI and oocyte diameter of immature tiger grouper at different time points.		
Fig. 2.5.	Gonad histological changes in sexually immature tiger grouper in response to rggFSH-treatment.		
Fig. 2.6.	Circulating levels of sex steroid hormones and FSH during rggFSH- treatment in sexually immature tiger grouper.	37	
Fig. 2.7.	Expression profile of reproductive genes affected by rggFSH- treatment.	39	
Fig. 2.8.	Expression profile of reproductive genes which were not affected by rggFSH-treatment.	40	
Fig. 3.1.	Structure of a portion of the expression vector, pcDNA3.1, which encodes for a single-chain giant grouper FSH.	57	
Fig. 3.2.	FSH protein expression profile after feeding with pFSH.	60	
Fig. 3.3.	Representative gonad histological sections of control or pFSH-fed tiger grouper after 8, 20 and 38 weeks of treatment.	62	
Fig. 3.4.	Effect of pFSH feeding on GSI and mean oocyte size of sexually immature tiger grouper.	63	
Fig. 3.5.	Effect of pFSH feeding on circulating levels of sex steroid hormones: E2, T and 11KT.	64	
Fig. 3.6.	Effect of pFSH feeding on plasma levels of FSH and VTG.	65	
Fig. 3.7.	Effect of pFSH feeding on expression of gonad genes.	67	

List of Tables

Table 2.1.	Nucleotide primers used to create standard concentrations.	29
Table 2.2.	Nucleotide primers used to amplify genes from the samples and to construct standard curve.	30

List of Gene Acronyms

amh	Anti-Mullerian Hormone	
bmp15	Bone morphogenetic protein 15	
cog5	Conserved oligomeric Golgi complex subunit 5	
cyp11b	Cytochrome P450 11B1; Steroid 11beta-hydroxylase	
cyp19a1a	Cytochrome P450 19A1; Aromatase	
dmrt1	Doublesex and mab-3 related transcription factor 1	
figla	Factor in the germline alpha	
foxl2	Forkhead box L2	
fsh	Follicle stimulating hormone	
fshr	Follicle stimulating hormone receptor	
igf3	Insulin-like growth factor 3	
lh	Luteinizing hormone	
lhr	Luteinizing hormone receptor	
sox9	Sex determine region Y box 9	

Chapter 1 General introduction and literature review

1.1. Grouper aquaculture, fishery and biology

1.1.2. Grouper aquaculture and fishery

Groupers represent one of the most economically valuable fish in the market today occupying a major portion of the live reef fish trade (LRFT) where their annual trade value is estimated at over 100 Million U.S. Dollars (Pierre *et al.*, 2008; Yin, 2014). Hong Kong, the main market of LRFT (Lee and Sadovy, 1998), imports live groupers mostly coming from Indo-Pacific countries including Indonesia, Thailand, the Philippines, Malaysia, and Taiwan (Pierre *et al.*, 2008; Yin, 2014). Giant grouper (*Epinephelus lanceolatus*), Humpback grouper (*Cromileptes altivelis*), Red grouper (*Epinephelus akaara*) and Coral trouts (*Plectropomus* spp.) are among the prime species of grouper sought after in the LRFT (Lau and Parry Jones, 1999). The demand for these groupers persistently grew over the past decade (Sadovy de Mitcheson *et al.*, 2013; Sadovy *et al.*, 2003) driving the heavy exploitation of wild grouper stocks (Kirubasankar *et al.*, 2013; Manojkumar, 2005; Yulianto *et al.*, 2015b) and heightening the need to increase aquaculture production.

Among the cultured groupers, giant grouper has particularly gained much interest from fish farmers due to its superior growth rate, achieving the commercial size of 0.6 to 1.0 kg within six months compared to other grouper species which can take more than a year (Ho *et al.*, 1997; Pierre *et al.*, 2008; Sadovy *et al.*, 2003). Aquaculture of giant groupers is currently being done in Taiwan (Liao *et al.*, 2001), Hawaii (García-Ortega *et al.*, 2016), Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, and Australia although production rate has remained relatively limited and unstable as in other cultured groupers (Liao *et al.*, 2001; Marte, 2003).

Poor captive breeding technology for groupers accounts for a major gap in giant grouper aquaculture (Kiriyakit *et al.*, 2011; Marte, 2003). The delayed sexual maturation of giant groupers, which can take three to four years, prolongs the brood stock conditioning period before spawning occurs. In addition, because of giant grouper's fast growth rate, size at sexual maturity is already about 20 kg. Their large size complicates handling during spawning induction, inflicting physical stress on the fish that can result in depreciated reproductive

performance (Schreck *et al.*, 2001). Their large size also requires larger breeding facilities, more food, and additional labor, all of which ultimately correspond to increased financial input.

Although the total world production pattern of all groupers in past years has grown, majority of the produce is provided by wild capture fisheries while aquaculture contributes only about 20% (Tupper and Sheriff, 2008) with production rate yet to be stabilized (Rimmer *et al.*, 2013). Groupers have been selectively overfished and their wild populations have been critically reduced in most countries involved in the export of live reef fish (Kirubasankar *et al.*, 2013; Manojkumar, 2005; Yulianto *et al.*, 2015a). The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) have included the giant grouper and other grouper species in the list of threatened fish species (Shuk Man and Wai Chuen, 2006). Hence, addressing the issue of captive breeding of giant grouper is crucial to the sustainability of both its aquaculture and fishery. It will not only provide seed for subsequent commercial production but also provide quality seed that can be used to enhance wild stocks.

1.1.3. General and reproductive biology of giant grouper

Giant groupers thrive in the tropical and sub-tropical waters of the Indo-Pacific region and, like most groupers, are associated with large coral reef areas, caves and wrecks (Madduppa *et al.*, 2012). The giant grouper or *Epinephelus lanceolatus* Bloch 1793 (Serranidae) is one of the two largest known species of grouper (Heemstra and Randall, 1993). It can grow up to three kg in its first year (Sadovy *et al.*, 2003) and can reach a maximum body size of 400 kg (Heemstra and Randall, 1993). They are characteristically sedentary and their diurnal movement is more or less restricted within their established territory (Sadovy de Mitcheson *et al.*, 2013). They often settle at the sand bottom or hide in crevices from where they prey on fish or crustaceans.

During spawning season, giant groupers form aggregations in specific sites where they spawn communally. The disparity in female and male size dimorphism largely influence the sex ratio in the spawning aggregations (Sadovy *et al.*, 1994). The aggregating spawners however have become the target of fishermen putting the whole grouper population at risk of recruitment by overfishing (De Mitcheson *et al.*, 2008; Sala *et al.*, 2001).

2

Like other species of groupers, giant groupers follow a protogynous hermaphroditic reproductive strategy where all individuals mature first as female and then, after a certain time, they change into male. In the Philippines and subtropical region of Australia, giant groupers attain sexual maturity at about 20 kg body weight and age of three to four years.

1.2. Reproductive physiology of fish

1.2.1. Brain-pituitary-gonad axis

Reproduction in fish is tightly regulated by the Brain-Pituitary-Gonad (BPG) axis through an endocrine mechanism that is highly conserved across vertebrates (Sower *et al.*, 2009). The BPG axis involves coordinated endocrine effects in three organs – brain, pituitary gland and gonad – which together directs the major reproductive processes including steroidogenesis, spermatogenesis, vitellogenesis and gonadal maturation (reviewed by Taranger *et al.*, 2010; Yaron and Levavi-Sivan, 2011).

The action of BPG axis starts with the synthesis of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH) by the GnRH neurons distributed in the forebrain area including the ventral telencephalon, preoptic area and hypothalamus (González-Martínez *et al.*, 2002). These neurons project from the brain and through the pituitary stalk innervating the pituitary adenohypophysis (Golan *et al.*, 2015) where gonadotropic cells producing Follicle Stimulating Hormone (FSH) and Luteinizing Hormone (LH) are localized (Murata *et al.*, 2012; Weltzien *et al.*, 2004). GnRH input prompts the synthesis and secretion of gonadotropins into the circulation allowing interaction with their cognate receptors (FSH-R and LH-R), bound on the somatic cell layer of the gonad. FSH-R and LH-R are expressed in the granulosa cells in the ovary and in the Leydig and sertoli cells in the testis (Alam *et al.*, 2010; Andersson *et al.*, 2009; Miwa *et al.*, 1994).

Activation of gonadotropin receptors induces steroid hormone production, primarily testosterone (T), which in females is absorbed by the granulosa cells where it is converted to estradiol-17 β (E₂) by the enzyme aromatase (P450arom). In males, T is hydroxylated by P450-11 β and oxidized by 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11 β -HSD) converting it into 11-ketotestosterone (11-KT), the potent androgen in fish (Yaron and Levavi-Sivan, 2011). Production of E₂ and 11-KT is elevated during early stages of oogenesis and spermatogenesis, respectively, under the regulation of FSH. During gonadal maturation, the maturation

inducing steroid (MIS) (specifically 17,20 β -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one (DHP)) is produced by the gonad under the control of LH (Suzuki *et al.*, 1988c).

1.2.2. Puberty

Puberty in fish is the process by which full reproductive competence is acquired allowing the gonad to undergo the first and complete reproductive cycle, starting from the entrance of oogonia and spermatogonia to meiosis and culminating at the production of the first batch of mature gametes (ova or spermatozoa) capable of fertilization (Okuzawa, 2002; Zanuy *et al.*, 2001). Initiation of pubertal development requires fully functional BPG axis which includes expression of the receptors and their respective ligands in well-developed organs (Okuzawa, 2002).

Oogonia and spermatogonia are formed at the culmination of sex differentiation though they are mitotically-arrested (Murata *et al.,* 2009). Elevated level of plasma DHP directs subpopulations of oogonia and spermatogonia to enter a meiotic division pathway leading to the formation of primary oocytes or spermatocytes marking the onset of puberty (Miura *et al.,* 2007)

In females, initiation of meiosis is followed by the movement of pre-follicle cells around each oogonium creating a somatic cell layer known as granulosa. Outside, another somatic cell layer is formed consisting of theca cells where vasculature later develops. The oogonium and the somatic cell layers constitute the ovarian follicle also known as the primary oocyte. At the same time, vitellogenin, a yolk-precursor protein, is produced in the liver in response to estrogenic stimulation, which is regulated by FSH. Oocytes grow by accumulating vitellogenin. In the presence of social and hormonal cues, oocytes proceed to final maturation where the membrane of the germinal vesicle breaks down and oocytes absorb water, thus gaining a rapid increase in size. This step is accompanied by increasing levels of LH and DHP. The somatic follicle layer eventually ruptures releasing the ovum, an oocyte denuded of somatic cells (Lubzens *et al.*, 2010).

In males, a supporting somatic cell layer, consisting of Sertoli cells, surround a subpopulation of spermatogonia while maintaining physical contact with each cell (Schulz *et al.*, 2010). Spermatogonial cells within a subpopulation entering meiosis are interconnected by a

cytoplasmic bridge ensuring synchronized development (Schulz *et al.*, 2010). Together, they undergo the following developmental stages: spermatogonium type A, spermatogonium type B, spermatocyte, spermatid and spermatozoa (Schulz and Nóbrega, 2011). Plasma levels of 11-KT and T increases gradually as spermatogenesis progresses until just before spawning, where a spike in DHP takes place (Schulz and Nóbrega, 2011).

The timing of the onset of puberty is species-specific and often sex-specific (Okuzawa, 2002; Zanuy *et al.*, 2001). To date, the physiological mechanism that ultimately permits fish to advance into puberty is yet to be fully elucidated. Nonetheless, it is recognized that puberty is a product of a complex interplay between environmental and endogenous factors (Carrillo *et al.*, 2009). Photoperiod and temperature are the primary environmental signals that strongly influence fish reproductive development (Cowan *et al.*, 2012; Hermelink *et al.*, 2011; Kanemaru *et al.*, 2012). On the other hand, FSH along with the neuropeptide Kisspeptin, the gonadotropin releasing hormone and the sex steroid hormones are the endogenous factors holding critical roles in the initiation of puberty in fish (Carrillo *et al.*, 2009).

1.2.3. Gonadotropins

The fish pituitary has two types of gonadotropic cells that produce two distinct gonadotropins, FSH and LH. The existence and functional characteristics of the two gonadotropins were first discovered and established in mammals (Bousfield *et al.*, 1996)). In fish, it was initially difficult to prove the duality of gonadotropins until two forms of gonadotropins, named GTHI and GTHII, were chemically characterized in salmon (Suzuki *et al.*, 1988a, 1988b, 1988c). These piscine gonadotropins resembled the biochemical and functional characteristics of their mammalian counterparts (Prat *et al.*, 1996) hence the terms FSH and LH were eventually adopted (Li and Ford, 1998; Quérat *et al.*, 2000).

Fish gonadotropins are heterodimeric glycoproteins consisting of non-covalently bound α and β subunits (Boime and Ben-Menahem, 1998; Suzuki *et al.*, 1988b), each coded by separate genes (Pierce and Parsons, 1981). Within a species, FSH and LH share a common α subunit (GTH α) whereas the β subunit (FSH β and LH β) is hormone-specific, responsible for the unique physiological function of each gonadotropin through interaction with their specific receptors (Holdcraft and Braun, 2004; Levavi-Sivan *et al.*, 2010). Binding of gonadotropins with their

receptors activates at least two intracellular signalling pathways including adenylate cyclase and phospholipase C, which in turn stimulate steroid production by activating the transcription of steroidogenic enzymes (Levavi-Sivan *et al.*, 2010; Walker and Cheng, 2005; Yan *et al.*, 2012).

During early stages of oogenesis, FSH regulates the expression of E₂, thereby controlling vitellogenesis (Yoshiura *et al.*, 1999). FSH also enhances the capability of oocytes to take up vitellogenins (Tyler *et al.*, 1991). In mummichog *Fundulus heteroclitus*, LH is co-expressed with FSH towards the end of vitellogenesis suggesting their complementary regulatory function at this stage (Shimizu *et al.*, 2008). LH then regulates oocyte maturation and ovulation by stimulating the production of MIH. The timing of FSH and LH functional roles is also reflected in the appearance of FSH- and LH-producing cells and the expression of FSH-R and LH-R during early and late stages of ovarian development, respectively (Shimizu *et al.*, 2008). This sequential expression of FSH and LH, and their cognate receptors is well pronounced in synchronous fish such as groupers wherein several batches of oocytes simultaneously develop in the ovary (Lubzens *et al.*, 2010).

The same temporal expression pattern of gonadotropins can be observed in males wherein FSH induces T and 11-KT synthesis directing spermatocyte development while LH incudes MIH synthesis hence promoting spermiation (Mazón *et al.*, 2013; Ogiwara *et al.*, 2013; Yoshiura *et al.*, 1999). In sex-changing fish such as groupers, after female sexuality has been assumed for some time, FSH shifts from stimulating E₂ production to promoting 11-KT production causing oocyte degeneration and ovarian restructuring into testis (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010). Recent studies in European sea bass *Dicentrarchus labrax* (Moles *et al.*, 2007), Medaka *Oryzias latipesl* (Murozumi *et al.*, 2014) and zebrafish (Zhang *et al.*, 2015) have implicated that FSH is more important in fish ovarian development than in testicular development.

1.3. Control of fish reproduction using gonadotropins

1.3.2. Fish recombinant gonadotropins

Earlier studies investigating functional characteristics of fish gonadotropins have been limited by the insufficient quantity of purified gonadotropin hormones. Initially, gonadotropins were purified from fish pituitaries, a method that requires large number of fish and significant amount of time and labor (Levavi-Sivan *et al.*, 2008; Slnha, 1971). The quality of pituitary extracts can be highly variable and prone to contamination with other pituitary hormones. The development of recombinant protein technology has allowed production of large amounts of pure gonadotropins (Aizen et al., 2016; Levavi-Sivan et al., 2008; Mazón *et al.*, 2015; Meiri *et al.*, 2000).

Recombinant proteins are made by transfecting DNA fragments coding for the desired protein into a biological expression system that can easily be manipulated in the laboratory in order to express the gene and consequently producing the protein of interest (Byrne, 2015; Fothergill-Gilmore, 1993). There are a number of biological expression systems available today including *E. coli*, mammalian and insect cell lines and the yeasts *Pichia pastoris* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Gräslund *et al.*, 2008). For relatively large and dimeric proteins such as the gonadotropins, expression systems are limited to mammalian cells, insect cells, and yeast cells which are capable of accommodating large DNA sequence insert and perform necessary post-translational modifications (Wurm, 2004).

The first attempt to produce fish recombinant gonadotropin was that of common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) GTHα produced in insect cells using baculovirus (Huang *et al.*, 1991). The recombinant product stimulated testosterone production in gonadal (testis) tissue fragments proving its bioactivity (Huang *et al.*, 1991). Succeeding work on recombinant fish gonadotropin produced single chain FSH and LH of Sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) by linking the beta with the alpha sequence (Meiri *et al.*, 2000). Both recombinant gonadotropins elicited *in vitro* biological response. Further studies have demonstrated the production of bioactive fish recombinant gonadotropins in other species such as Channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatal*) (Zmora *et al.*, 2003), African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) (Vischer *et al.*, 2003), Japanese eel (*Anguilla japonica*) (Kamei *et al.*, 2003), Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) (Kasuto and Levavi-Sivan, 2005), and Manchurian trout (*Brachymystax lenok*) (Choi *et al.*, 2005). However, the biological activities of these recombinant gonadotropins have only been tested *in vitro*.

Some studies have been carried out testing the biological activity of recombinant FSH *in-vivo*. In Goldfish (*Carassius auratus*), intraperitoneally administrated rFSH induced spermiation in males while LH induced ovulation in females (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2006, 2003). In orange-spotted grouper (*E. coioides*), intraperitoneal injection of rLH upregulated gene expression of both brain and gonad aromatase concurrent with increased sex steroid production (Cui *et al.*, 2007). Immature orange-spotted grouper, after receiving intraperitoneal injection of rFSH, had increased T and E₂ circulating levels and developed primary oocytes (Chen *et al.*, 2012). Japanese eel (*Anguilla japonica*) rFSH hastened oocyte growth in E₂ feminized Japanese eel (Kim *et al.*, 2012). Few more studies have shown that recombinant FSH and LH have *in vivo* biological potencies comparable to their native counterparts, demonstrating that they can be used as an alternative to pituitary extracts in inducing gonadal development in aquaculture species (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2003).

Recombinant gonadotropins have also been useful in developing immunoassays for measuring levels of circulating and pituitary fish gonadotropins. In tilapia, specific antibodies against FSH and LH were generated using rFSHβ and rLHβ, respectively, and used for establishing homologous enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Aizen *et al.*, 2007). Using a similar approach, homologous ELISA was also established for Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) FSH (Chauvigné *et al.*, 2015), European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) FSH (Molés *et al.*, 2012) and Greater amberjack (*Seriola dumerili*) FSH and LH (Nyuji *et al.*, 2012).

1.3.3. Induction of sexual maturation using gonadotropin

The issue of late maturity in some aquaculture species, including the giant grouper, remains a bottleneck in the expansion of their culture production. As such, attempts have been made to advance early sexual maturation among these species. Although the current understanding on the mechanism ultimately responsible for initiating pubertal development in fish remains incomplete, stimulation of gonadal development or maturation have been possible through administration of gonadotropins (Levavi-Sivan *et al.*, 2008).

In juvenile female rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), intraperitoneal administration of rFSH (once at 100 μ g/kg BW) resulted in the appearance of growing vitellogenic oocytes after 72 h (Ko *et al.*, 2007). Sexually immature orange-spotted grouper (*E. coioides*) intraperitoneally injected with rFSH (200 μ g/kg BW) five times every two days developed primary oocytes at the end of treatment (Chen *et al.*, 2012). Vitellogenic oocytes were also found in juvenile female yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) after receiving intramuscular

injections of rFSH at 10-20 μ g/kg BW every 10 days for two months (Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, n.d.). Increased expression of E₂ within 6 h followed by increased vitellogenin mRNA expression were observed in immature cinnamon clownfish (*Amphiprion melanopus*) injected intramuscularly with either 100 or 1000 μ g/kg BW rFSH (Kim *et al.*, 2012). These studies demonstrate that treatment with gonadotropin, specifically FSH, can induce ovarian development in immature fish although evidences presented are only limited to oocytes in vitellogenic stage. Whether or not FSH-treatment can stimulate immature gonad to undergo full reproductive developmental cycle remains to be elucidated.

In males, though FSH positively affected spermatogenesis, effects were slower and less pronounced. In juvenile European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*), rFSH administration at 7.5 µg/kg BW twice within three days stimulated higher 11-KT secretion after 3 days and stimulated spermatogonial proliferative activity though spermatogenesis progressed only up to spermatogonia B stage (Mazón *et al.*, 2014). Injection of rFSH at 5 mg/kg BW did not produce significant changes in the gonad of immature male Japanese eel (*A. japonica*) 18 days after treatment (Kazeto *et al.*, 2008).

Recombinant gonadotropins have a relatively short half-life *in vivo* hence the need for multiple and regular treatments (Garcia-Campayo and Boime, 2001). One way to avoid the rapid clearance from the circulation is by fusing carboxyterminal peptide (CTP) of the human chorionic gonadotropin with the recombinant protein (Fares *et al.*, 1992; Joshi *et al.*, 1995). This technique not only prolongs the *in vivo* half-life of the recombinant protein but also enhances its bioactivity (Fares *et al.*, 1992). Recent work has also explored DNA plasmid administration or direct gene transfer of rLH and demonstrated that circulating LH is significantly elevated compared with those injected with rLH protein (Mazón *et al.*, 2013). The treatment with rLH DNA plasmid, twice with two days interval, also prolonged rLH expression for up to one month (Mazón *et al.*, 2013).

Oral delivery of DNA incorporated in formulated feeds has been done in fish primarily for the purpose of delivering DNA vaccines (Ramos *et al.*, 2005). This is done through encapsulation of DNA with liposome or chitosan which results in stability while inside the digestive tract (Balazs *et al.*, 2010). Utilizing this technique for introducing recombinant gonadotropin

9

plasmids is one approach that merits further study and has potential application in both research and commercial operations.

1.4. Conclusion

A large and continuously growing market for live groupers faces an unstable supply from wild capture fishery due to the decline in wild grouper stock. To meet the market demand for grouper as well as to ease the pressure from wild stock, sustainable production of groupers through reliable breeding technology is of high priority. Giant grouper, one of the most indemand species of groupers, has late maturation and a large size at maturity that presents technical difficulty in breeding activities as well as increased financial input. To circumvent this issue, hormonal manipulation, specifically administration of rFSH, can be employed. FSH, the pituitary hormone responsible for stimulating ovarian development, has been shown to induce early sexual maturation in other fish species. Administration of rFSH through intramuscular injection and oral rFSH DNA plasmid delivery are two approaches that merit investigation.

1.5. Objectives

This thesis is aimed at investigating approaches for inducing early sexual maturation in giant grouper using recombinant hormone manipulation so that captive breeding could be done with a younger and smaller broodstock. The specific objectives of this thesis are:

- 1. Produce a bioactive single chain form of recombinant giant grouper FSH (rggFSH) using yeast expression system.
- 2. Induce sexual maturation in sexually immature grouper through intramuscular administration of rggFSH.
- 3. Assess the oral delivery of giant grouper FSH in the form of an expression construct in inducing reproductive development in immature grouper.

Note

In preparing this thesis, the overall format and structure followed the USC Higher Degree by Research Thesis Guidelines while citation style followed the Elsevier (Harvard) using Zotero 5.0. Chapters 2 and 3 will be submitted for publication as full research article in scientific peer-reviewed journal thus the manner of writing.

1.6. References

- Aizen, J., Hollander-Cohen, L., Shpilman, M., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2016. Biologically active recombinant carp LH as a spawning inducing agent for Carp. J. Endocrinol. JOE-16-0435. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-16-0435
- Aizen, J., Kasuto, H., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2007. Development of specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for determining LH and FSH levels in tilapia, using recombinant gonadotropins. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Proceedings of the 23rd Conference of European Comparative Endocrinologists: Part 2 153, 323–332. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.04.004
- Alam, M.A., Kobayashi, Y., Hirai, T., Nakamura, M., 2010. Isolation, characterization and expression analyses of FSH receptor in protogynous grouper. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol., Breathing, Locomotion and Everything in Between 156, 364–371. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.03.001
- Andersson, E., Nijenhuis, W., Male, R., Swanson, P., Bogerd, J., Taranger, G.L., Schulz, R.W., 2009. Pharmacological characterization, localization and quantification of expression of gonadotropin receptors in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) ovaries. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 163, 329–339. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.05.001
- Balazs, D.A., Godbey, W.T., Balazs, D.A., Godbey, W.T., 2010. Liposomes for Use in Gene Delivery, Liposomes for Use in Gene Delivery. J. Drug Deliv. J. Drug Deliv. 2011, 2011, e326497. doi:10.1155/2011/326497, 10.1155/2011/326497
- Boime, I., Ben-Menahem, D., 1998. Glycoprotein hormone structure-function and analog design. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 54, 271-88; discussion 288–9.
- Bousfield, G.R., Butnev, V.Y., Gotschall, R.R., Baker, V.L., Moore, W.T., 1996. Structural features of mammalian gonadotropins. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol., Gonadotropins and their Receptors: Structure, Function and Molecular Forms 125, 3–19. doi:10.1016/S0303-7207(96)03945-7
- Byrne, B., 2015. Pichia pastoris as an expression host for membrane protein structural biology. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol., New constructs and expression of proteins / Sequences and topology 32, 9–17. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2015.01.005
- Carrillo, M., Zanuy, S., Felip, A., Bayarri, M.J., Molés, G., Gómez, A., 2009. Hormonal and Environmental Control of Puberty in Perciform Fish. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1163, 49–59. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2008.03645.x
- Chauvigné, F., Verdura, S., Mazón, M.J., Boj, M., Zanuy, S., Gómez, A., Cerdà, J., 2015. Development of a flatfish-specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for Fsh using a recombinant chimeric gonadotropin. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Expanding the knowledge base of reproductive success: from genes to the environment 221, 75–85. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.10.009
- Chen, J., Zhang, Y., Tang, Z., Mao, J., Kuang, Z., Qin, C., Li, W., 2012. Production of recombinant orange-spotted grouper (Epinephelus coioides) follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) in single-chain form and dimer form by Pichia pastoris and their biological activities. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 178, 237–249. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.05.009
- Choi, E., Ko, H., Shin, J., Kim, M.-A., Sohn, Y.C., 2005. Expression of gonadotropin genes in Manchurian trout Brachymystax lenok and production of recombinant gonadotropins. Fish. Sci. 71, 1193–1200. doi:10.1111/j.1444-2906.2005.01083.x
- Cowan, M., Davie, A., Migaud, H., 2012. Photoperiod effects on the expression of kisspeptin and gonadotropin genes in Atlantic cod, Gadus morhua, during first maturation.

Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 163, 82–94. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2012.05.191

- Cui, M., Li, W., Liu, W., Yang, K., Pang, Y., Haoran, L., 2007. Production of Recombinant Orange-Spotted Grouper (Epinephelus coioides) Luteinizing Hormone in Insect Cells by the Baculovirus Expression System and Its Biological Effect. Biol. Reprod. 76, 74– 84. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.105.050484
- De Mitcheson, Y.S., Cornish, A., Domeier, M., Colin, P.L., Russell, M., Lindeman, K.C., 2008. A Global Baseline for Spawning Aggregations of Reef Fishes. Conserv. Biol. 22, 1233– 1244. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.01020.x
- Fares, F.A., Suganuma, N., Nishimori, K., LaPolt, P.S., Hsueh, A.J., Boime, I., 1992. Design of a long-acting follitropin agonist by fusing the C-terminal sequence of the chorionic gonadotropin beta subunit to the follitropin beta subunit. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 89, 4304–4308. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.10.4304
- Fothergill-Gilmore, L., 1993. Recombinant Protein Technology, in: Franks, F. (Ed.), Protein Biotechnology. Humana Press, pp. 467–487. doi:10.1007/978-1-59259-438-2_13
- Garcia-Campayo, V., Boime, I., 2001. Novel recombinant gonadotropins. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 12, 72–77. doi:10.1016/S1043-2760(00)00338-6
- García-Ortega, A., Kissinger, K.R., Trushenski, J.T., 2016. Evaluation of fish meal and fish oil replacement by soybean protein and algal meal from Schizochytrium limacinum in diets for giant grouper Epinephelus lanceolatus. Aquaculture 452, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.10.020
- Golan, M., Zelinger, E., Zohar, Y., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2015. Architecture of GnRH-Gonadotrope-Vasculature Reveals a Dual Mode of Gonadotropin Regulation in Fish. Endocrinology 156, 4163–4173. doi:10.1210/en.2015-1150
- González-Martínez, D., Zmora, N., Mañanos, E., Saligaut, D., Zanuy, S., Zohar, Y., Elizur, A., Kah, O., Muñoz-Cueto, J.A., 2002. Immunohistochemical localization of three different prepro-GnRHs in the brain and pituitary of the European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) using antibodies to the corresponding GnRH-associated peptides. J. Comp. Neurol. 446, 95–113. doi:10.1002/cne.10190
- Gräslund, S., Nordlund, P., Weigelt, J., Bray, J., Gileadi, O., Knapp, S., Oppermann, U., Arrowsmith, C., Hui, R., Ming, J., dhe-Paganon, S., Park, H., Savchenko, A., Yee, A., Edwards, A., Vincentelli, R., Cambillau, C., Kim, R., Kim, S.-H., Rao, Z., Shi, Y., Terwilliger, T.C., Kim, C.-Y., Hung, L.-W., Waldo, G.S., Peleg, Y., Albeck, S., Unger, T., Dym, O., Prilusky, J., Sussman, J.L., Stevens, R.C., Lesley, S.A., Wilson, I.A., Joachimiak, A., Collart, F., Dementieva, I., Donnelly, M.I., Eschenfeldt, W.H., Kim, Y., Stols, L., Wu, R., Zhou, M., Burley, S.K., Emtage, J.S., Sauder, J.M., Thompson, D., Bain, K., Luz, J., Gheyi, T., Zhang, F., Atwell, S., Almo, S.C., Bonanno, J.B., Fiser, A., Swaminathan, S., Studier, F.W., Chance, M.R., Sali, A., Acton, T.B., Xiao, R., Zhao, L., Ma, L.C., Hunt, J.F., Tong, L., Cunningham, K., Inouye, M., Anderson, S., Janjua, H., Shastry, R., Ho, C.K., Wang, D., Wang, H., Jiang, M., Montelione, G.T., Stuart, D.I., Owens, R.J., Daenke, S., Schütz, A., Heinemann, U., Yokoyama, S., Büssow, K., Gunsalus, K.C., 2008. Protein production and purification. Nat. Methods 5, 135–146. doi:10.1038/nmeth.f.202
- Heemstra, P.C., Randall, J.E., 1993. FAO Species Catalogue, FAO Fisheries Synopsis. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Hermelink, B., Wuertz, S., Trubiroha, A., Rennert, B., Kloas, W., Schulz, C., 2011. Influence of temperature on puberty and maturation of pikeperch, Sander lucioperca. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 172, 282–292. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.03.013

- Ho, Y.S., Chen, W.Y., Liao, I.C., 1997. Experiments on the artificial propagation of giant grouper Epinephelus lanceolatus. J. Taiwan Fish. Res. 5, 129–139.
- Holdcraft, R.W., Braun, R.E., 2004. Hormonal regulation of spermatogenesis. Int. J. Androl. 27, 335–342. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2605.2004.00502.x
- Huang, C.J., Huang, F.L., Chang, G.D., Chang, Y.S., Lo, C.F., Fraser, M.J., Lo, T.B., 1991. Expression of two forms of carp gonadotropin alpha subunit in insect cells by recombinant baculovirus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 88, 7486–7490.
- Joshi, L., Murata, Y., Wondisford, F.E., Szkudlinski, M.W., Desai, R., Weintraub, B.D., 1995. Recombinant thyrotropin containing a beta-subunit chimera with the human chorionic gonadotropin-beta carboxy-terminus is biologically active, with a prolonged plasma half-life: role of carbohydrate in bioactivity and metabolic clearance. Endocrinology 136, 3839–3848. doi:10.1210/endo.136.9.7544273
- Kamei, H., Ohira, T., Yoshiura, Y., Uchida, N., Nagasawa, H., Aida, K., 2003. Expression of a biologically active recombinant follicle stimulating hormone of Japanese Eel Anguilla japonica using methylotropic yeast, Pichia pastoris. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 134, 244– 254. doi:10.1016/S0016-6480(03)00259-4
- Kanemaru, T., Nakamura, M., Murata, R., Kuroki, K., Horie, H., Uchida, K., Senthilkumaran, B.,
 Kagawa, H., 2012. Induction of sexual maturation of the female honeycomb grouper,
 Epinephelus merra, in the non-breeding season by modulating environmental factors
 with GnRH analogue implantation. Aquaculture 358–359, 85–91.
 doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.06.026
- Kasuto, H., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2005. Production of biologically active tethered tilapia LHβα by the methylotrophic yeast Pichia pastoris. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 140, 222–232. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.10.016
- Kazeto, Y., Kohara, M., Miura, T., Miura, C., Yamaguchi, S., Trant, J.M., Adachi, S., Yamauchi, K., 2008. Japanese Eel Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (Fsh) and Luteinizing Hormone (Lh): Production of Biologically Active Recombinant Fsh and Lh by Drosophila S2 Cells and Their Differential Actions on the Reproductive Biology. Biol. Reprod. 79, 938–946. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.108.070052
- Kim, N.N., Habibi, H.R., Lee, J., Choi, C.Y., 2012. Effects of recombinant gonadotropin hormones on the expression of vitellogenin, gonadotropin subunits and gonadotropin receptors in cinnamon clownfish, Amphiprion melanopus. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 162, 73–80. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2012.04.006
- Kiriyakit, A., Gallardo, W.G., Bart, A.N., 2011. Successful hybridization of groupers (Epinephelus coioides x Epinephelus lanceolatus) using cryopreserved sperm. Aquaculture 320, 106–112. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2011.05.012
- Kirubasankar, R., Roy, S.D., GRINSON-GEORGE, KAMAL-SARMA, Krishnan, P., Kumar, S.R., Kaliyamoorthy, M., Gouthambharathi, and M.P., 2013. Fishery and Exploitation of Malabar Grouper, Epinephelus malabaricus (Bloch & Schneider 1801) from Andaman Islands. Asian Fish. Sci. 26, 167–175.
- Ko, H., Park, W., Kim, D.-J., Kobayashi, M., Sohn, Y.C., 2007. Biological activities of recombinant Manchurian trout FSH and LH: their receptor specificity, steroidogenic and vitellogenic potencies. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 38, 99–111. doi:10.1677/jme.1.02163
- Kobayashi, M., Hayakawa, Y., Park, W., Banba, A., Yoshizaki, G., Kumamaru, K., Kagawa, H., Kaki, H., Nagaya, H., Sohn, Y.C., 2010. Production of recombinant Japanese eel gonadotropins by baculovirus in silkworm larvae. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Symposium on Fish Growth and Reproduction 167, 379–386. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.01.003

- Kobayashi, M., Morita, T., Ikeguchi, K., Yoshizaki, G., Suzuki, T., Watabe, S., 2006. In vivo biological activity of recombinant goldfish gonadotropins produced by baculovirus in silkworm larvae. Aquaculture 256, 433–442. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.01.016
- Kobayashi, M., Morita, T., Ikeguchi, K., Yoshizaki, G., Suzuki, T., Watabe, S., 2003. Production of recombinant goldfish gonadotropins by baculovirus in silkworm larvae. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 28, 469–471. doi:10.1023/B:FISH.0000030631.25673.a7
- Lau, P., Parry Jones, R.P., 1999. The Hong Kong trade in Live Reef Fish for Food. SPC Live Reef Fish Inf. Bull. 6, 27–30.
- Lee, C., Sadovy, Y., 1998. A taste for live fish: Hong Kong's live reef fish market. Naga ICLARM Q. 21, 38–42.
- Levavi-Sivan, B., Bogerd, J., Mañanós, E.L., Gómez, A., Lareyre, J.J., 2010. Perspectives on fish gonadotropins and their receptors. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Fish Reproduction 165, 412–437. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.07.019
- Levavi-Sivan, B., Golan, M., Aizen, J., Elizur, A., 2008. Fish recombinant gonadotropins. Cybium 32, 17–21.
- Li, M.D., Ford, J.J., 1998. A comprehensive evolutionary analysis based on nucleotide and amino acid sequences of the alpha- and beta-subunits of glycoprotein hormone gene family. J. Endocrinol. 156, 529–542. doi:10.1677/joe.0.1560529
- Liao, I.C., Su, H.M., Chang, E.Y., 2001. Techniques in finfish larviculture in Taiwan. Aquaculture, Advanced Biotechnology in Hatchery Production 200, 1–31. doi:10.1016/S0044-8486(01)00692-5
- Lubzens, E., Young, G., Bobe, J., Cerdà, J., 2010. Oogenesis in teleosts: How fish eggs are formed. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Fish Reproduction 165, 367–389. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.05.022
- Madduppa, H.H., Ferse, S.C.A., Aktani, U., Palm, H.W., 2012. Seasonal trends and fish-habitat associations around Pari Island, Indonesia: setting a baseline for environmental monitoring. Environ. Biol. Fishes 95, 383–398. doi:10.1007/s10641-012-0012-7
- Manojkumar, P.P., 2005. Fishery of the spinycheek grouper, Epinephelus diacanthus (Valenciennes), off Calicut along the Malabar Coast. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. India 47, 63–69.
- Marte, C.L., 2003. Larviculture of marine species in Southeast Asia: current research and industry prospects. Aquaculture, 3rd Fish and Shellfish Larviculture Symposium 227, 293–304. doi:10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00510-6
- Mazón, M.J., Gómez, A., Yilmaz, O., Carrillo, M., Zanuy, S., 2014. Administration of Follicle-Stimulating Hormone In Vivo Triggers Testicular Recrudescence of Juvenile European Sea Bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). Biol. Reprod. 90, 6. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.113.110569
- Mazón, M.J., Molés, G., Rocha, A., Crespo, B., Lan-Chow-Wing, O., Espigares, F., Muñoz, I., Felip, A., Carrillo, M., Zanuy, S., Gómez, A., 2015. Gonadotropins in European sea bass: Endocrine roles and biotechnological applications. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Expanding the knowledge base of reproductive success: from genes to the environment 221, 31– 41. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.05.002
- Mazón, M.J., Zanuy, S., Muñoz, I., Carrillo, M., Gómez, A., 2013. Luteinizing Hormone Plasmid Therapy Results in Long-Lasting High Circulating Lh and Increased Sperm Production in European Sea Bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). Biol. Reprod. 88, 32. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.112.102640

- Meiri, I., Knibb, W.R., Zohar, Y., Elizur, A., 2004. Temporal profile of β follicle-stimulating hormone, β luteinizing hormone, and growth hormone gene expression in the protandrous hermaphrodite, gilthead seabream, Sparus aurata. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 137, 288–299. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.04.002
- Meiri, I., Zmora, N., Elizur, A., 2000. Functional expression of recombinant seabream FSH and LH in baculovirus infected insect cells, in: Proceedings of the Sixth International Symposium on the Reproductive Physiology of Fish. Presented at the Sixth international symposium on the reproductive physiology of fish, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway, p. 488.
- Miura, C., Higashino, T., Miura, T., 2007. A Progestin and an Estrogen Regulate Early Stages of Oogenesis in Fish. Biol. Reprod. 77, 822–828. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.107.061408
- Miwa, S., Yan, L., Swanson, P., 1994. Localization of two gonadotropin receptors in the salmon gonad by *in vitro* ligand autoradiography. Biol. Reprod. 50, 629–642. doi:10.1095/biolreprod50.3.629
- Moles, G., Carrillo, M., Mañanós, E., Mylonas, C.C., Zanuy, S., 2007. Temporal profile of brain and pituitary GnRHs, GnRH-R and gonadotropin mRNA expression and content during early development in European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax L.). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 150, 75–86. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2006.07.012
- Molés, G., Gómez, A., Carrillo, M., Zanuy, S., 2012. Development of a homologous enzymelinked immunosorbent assay for European sea bass FSH. Reproductive cycle plasma levels in both sexes and in yearling precocious and non-precocious males. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 176, 70–78. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.12.029
- Murata, R., Karimata, H., Ashraful Alam, M., Nakamura, M., 2009. Gonadal sex differentiation in the Malabar grouper, Epinephelus malabaricus. Aquaculture 293, 286–289. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.04.031
- Murata, R., Kobayashi, Y., Karimata, H., Kishimoto, K., Kimura, M., Shimizu, A., Nakamura, M., 2012. The role of pituitary gonadotropins in gonadal sex differentiation in the protogynous Malabar grouper, Epinephelus malabaricus. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 178, 587–592. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.07.012
- Murozumi, N., Nakashima, R., Hirai, T., Kamei, Y., Ishikawa-Fujiwara, T., Todo, T., Kitano, T., 2014. Loss of follicle-stimulating hormone receptor function causes masculinization and suppression of ovarian development in genetically female medaka. Endocrinology 155, 3136–3145. doi:10.1210/en.2013-2060
- Nyuji, M., Selvaraj, S., Kitano, H., Ohga, H., Yoneda, M., Shimizu, A., Kaneko, K., Yamaguchi, A., Matsuyama, M., 2012. Changes in the expression of pituitary gonadotropin subunits during reproductive cycle of multiple spawning female chub mackerel Scomber japonicus. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 38, 883–897. doi:10.1007/s10695-011-9576-y
- Ogiwara, K., Fujimori, C., Rajapakse, S., Takahashi, T., 2013. Characterization of Luteinizing Hormone and Luteinizing Hormone Receptor and Their Indispensable Role in the Ovulatory Process of the Medaka. PLoS ONE 8, e54482. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0054482
- Okuzawa, K., 2002. Puberty in teleosts. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 26, 31–41. doi:10.1023/A:1023395025374
- Pierce, J.G., Parsons, T.F., 1981. Glycoprotein hormones: structure and function. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 50, 465–495.

- Pierre, S., Gaillard, S., Prévot-D'Alvise, N., Aubert, J., Rostaing-Capaillon, O., Leung-Tack, D., Grillasca, J.-P., 2008. Grouper aquaculture: Asian success and Mediterranean trials. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 18, 297–308. doi:10.1002/aqc.840
- Prat, F., Sumpter, J.P., Tyler, C.R., 1996. Validation of radioimmunoassays for two salmon gonadotropins (GTH I and GTH II) and their plasma concentrations throughout the reproductivecycle in male and female rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Biol. Reprod. 54, 1375–1382. doi:10.1095/biolreprod54.6.1375
- Quérat, B., Sellouk, A., Salmon, C., 2000. Phylogenetic Analysis of the Vertebrate Glycoprotein Hormone Family Including New Sequences of Sturgeon (Acipenser baeri) β Subunits of the Two Gonadotropins and the Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone. Biol. Reprod. 63, 222–228. doi:10.1095/biolreprod63.1.222
- Ramos, E.A., Relucio, J.L.V., Torres-Villanueva, C.A.T., 2005. Gene expression in tilapia following oral delivery of chitosan-encapsulated plasmid DNA incorporated into fish feeds. Mar. Biotechnol. N. Y. N 7, 89–94. doi:10.1007/s10126-004-3018-0
- Rimmer, M.A., Sugama, K., Rakhmawati, D., Rofiq, R., Habgood, R.H., 2013. A review and SWOT analysis of aquaculture development in Indonesia. Rev. Aquac. 5, 255–279. doi:10.1111/raq.12017
- Sadovy de Mitcheson, Y., Craig, M.T., Bertoncini, A.A., Carpenter, K.E., Cheung, W.W.L., Choat, J.H., Cornish, A.S., Fennessy, S.T., Ferreira, B.P., Heemstra, P.C., Liu, M., Myers, R.F., Pollard, D.A., Rhodes, K.L., Rocha, L.A., Russell, B.C., Samoilys, M.A., Sanciangco, J., 2013. Fishing groupers towards extinction: a global assessment of threats and extinction risks in a billion dollar fishery. Fish Fish. 14, 119–136. doi:10.1111/j.1467-2979.2011.00455.x
- Sadovy, Y., Rosario, A., Román, A., 1994. Reproduction in an aggregating grouper, the red hind, Epinephelus guttatus, in: Balon, E.K., Bruton, M.N., Noakes, D.L.G. (Eds.), Women in Ichthyology: An Anthology in Honour of ET, Ro and Genie, Developments in Environmental Biology of Fishes 15. Springer Netherlands, pp. 269–286. doi:10.1007/978-94-011-0199-8_21
- Sadovy, Y.J., Donaldson, T.J., Graham, T.R., McGilvray, F., Muldoon, G.J., Phillips, M.J., Rimmer, M.A., Smith, A., Yeeting, B., 2003. While Stocks Last: The Live Reef Food Fish Trade. Asian Development Bank.
- Sala, E., Ballesteros, E., Starr, R.M., 2001. Rapid Decline of Nassau Grouper Spawning Aggregations in Belize: Fishery Management and Conservation Needs. Fisheries 26, 23–30. doi:10.1577/1548-8446(2001)026<0023:RDONGS>2.0.CO;2
- Sanchís-Benlloch, P.J., Nocillado, J., Ladisa, C., Aizen, J., Miller, A., Shpilman, M., Levavi-Sivan,
 B., Ventura, T., Elizur, A., n.d. In-vitro and in-vivo biological activity of recombinant
 yellowtail kingfish (Seriola lalandi) follicle stimulating hormone. Gen. Comp.
 Endocrinol. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.03.001
- Schreck, C.B., Contreras-Sanchez, W., Fitzpatrick, M.S., 2001. Effects of stress on fish reproduction, gamete quality, and progeny. Aquaculture, Reproductive Biotechnology in Finfish Aquaculture 197, 3–24. doi:10.1016/S0044-8486(01)00580-4
- Schulz, R.W., de França, L.R., Lareyre, J.-J., LeGac, F., Chiarini-Garcia, H., Nobrega, R.H., Miura, T., 2010. Spermatogenesis in fish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Fish Reproduction 165, 390–411. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.02.013
- Schulz, R.W., Nóbrega, R.H., 2011. THE REPRODUCTIVE ORGANS AND PROCESSES | Anatomy and Histology of Fish Testis A2 - Farrell, Anthony P., in: Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 616–626.

- Shimizu, A., Hamaguchi, M., Ito, H., Ohkubo, M., Udagawa, M., Fujii, K., Kobayashi, T., Nakamura, M., 2008. Appearances and chronological changes of mummichog Fundulus heteroclitus FSH cells and LH cells during ontogeny, sexual differentiation, and gonadal development. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 156, 312–322. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.01.022
- Shuk Man, C., Wai Chuen, N., 2006. Epinephelus lanceolatus, in: The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2006.
- Slnha, V.R.P., 1971. Induced spawning in carp with fractionated fish pituitary extract. J. Fish Biol. 3, 263–272. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1971.tb03682.x
- Sower, S.A., Freamat, M., Kavanaugh, S.I., 2009. The origins of the vertebrate hypothalamic– pituitary–gonadal (HPG) and hypothalamic–pituitary–thyroid (HPT) endocrine systems: New insights from lampreys. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., International Fish Endocrine Symposium Special IssueSixth International Symposium on Fish Endocrine 161, 20–29. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.11.023
- Suzuki, K., Kawauchi, H., Nagahama, Y., 1988a. Isolation and characterization of two distinct gonadotropins from chum salmon pituitary glands. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 71, 292– 301. doi:10.1016/0016-6480(88)90257-2
- Suzuki, K., Kawauchi, H., Nagahama, Y., 1988b. Isolation and characterization of subunits from two distinct salmon gonadotropins. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 71, 302–306. doi:10.1016/0016-6480(88)90258-4
- Suzuki, K., Nagahama, Y., Kawauchi, H., 1988c. Steroidogenic activities of two distinct salmon gonadotropins. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 71, 452–458. doi:10.1016/0016-6480(88)90274-2
- Taranger, G.L., Carrillo, M., Schulz, R.W., Fontaine, P., Zanuy, S., Felip, A., Weltzien, F.-A., Dufour, S., Karlsen, Ø., Norberg, B., Andersson, E., Hansen, T., 2010. Control of puberty in farmed fish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Fish Reproduction 165, 483–515. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.05.004
- Tupper, M., Sheriff, N., 2008. Capture-based aquaculture of groupers, in: Capture-Based Aquaculture. Global Overview., FAO Fisheries Technical Paper. FAO, Fome, pp. 217–253.
- Tyler, C.R., Sumpter, J.P., Kawauchi, H., Swanson, P., 1991. Involvement of gonadotropin in the uptake of vitellogenin into vitellogenic oocytes of the rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 84, 291–299. doi:10.1016/0016-6480(91)90052-8
- Vischer, H.F., Granneman, J.C., Linskens, M.H., Schulz, R.W., Bogerd, J., 2003. Both recombinant African catfish LH and FSH are able to activate the African catfish FSH receptor. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 31, 133–140. doi:10.1677/jme.0.0310133
- Walker, W.H., Cheng, J., 2005. FSH and testosterone signaling in Sertoli cells. Reproduction 130, 15–28. doi:10.1530/rep.1.00358
- Weltzien, F.-A., Andersson, E., Andersen, Ø., Shalchian-Tabrizi, K., Norberg, B., 2004. The brain-pituitary-gonad axis in male teleosts, with special emphasis on flatfish (Pleuronectiformes). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 137, 447–477. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2003.11.007
- Wurm, F.M., 2004. Production of recombinant protein therapeutics in cultivated mammalian cells. Nat. Biotechnol. 22, 1393–1398. doi:10.1038/nbt1026
- Yan, H., Ijiri, S., Wu, Q., Kobayashi, T., Li, S., Nakaseko, T., Adachi, S., Nagahama, Y., 2012. Expression Patterns of Gonadotropin Hormones and Their Receptors During Early

Sexual Differentiation in Nile Tilapia Oreochromis niloticus. Biol. Reprod. 87, 116. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.112.101220

- Yaron, Z., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2011. HORMONAL CONTROL OF REPRODUCTION AND GROWTH | Endocrine Regulation of Fish Reproduction A2 - Farrell, Anthony P., in: Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 1500–1508.
- Yin, X., 2014. Sustainability of coral trout, Plectropomus leopardus, fisheries in the Philippines and Indonesia (Master of Philisophy). The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong.
- Yoshiura, Y., Suetake, H., Aida, K., 1999. Duality of Gonadotropin in a Primitive Teleost, Japanese Eel (Anguilla japonica). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 114, 121–131. doi:10.1006/gcen.1998.7242
- Yulianto, I., Cornelius Hammer, Wiryawan, B., Harry W. Palm, 2015a. Potential and Risk of Grouper (Epinephelus spp., Epinephelidae) Stock Enhancement in Indonesia. J. Coast. Zone Manag. 18, 394. doi:10.4172/jczm.1000394
- Yulianto, I., Hammer, C., Wiryawan, B., Palm, H.W., 2015b. Fishing-induced groupers stock dynamics in Karimunjawa National Park, Indonesia. Fish. Sci. 81, 417–432. doi:10.1007/s12562-015-0863-x
- Zanuy, S., Carrillo, M., Felip, A., Rodríguez, L., Blázquez, M., Ramos, J., Piferrer, F., 2001. Genetic, hormonal and environmental approaches for the control of reproduction in the European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax L.). Aquaculture, Bass SPP culture:basic and applied aspects 202, 187–203. doi:10.1016/S0044-8486(01)00771-2
- Zhang, Z., Lau, S.-W., Zhang, L., Ge, W., 2015. Disruption of Zebrafish Follicle-Stimulating Hormone Receptor (fshr) But Not Luteinizing Hormone Receptor (lhcgr) Gene by TALEN Leads to Failed Follicle Activation in Females Followed by Sexual Reversal to Males. Endocrinology 156, 3747–3762. doi:10.1210/en.2015-1039
- Zmora, N., Kumar, S., Kazeto, Y., Trant, J.M., 2003. Production of channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus) recombinant gonadotropins using the S2 Drosophila cell line system. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 28, 475–477. doi:10.1023/B:FISH.0000030633.93255.46

Chapter 2 Induction of early sexual maturation in juvenile tiger grouper *Epinephelus* fuscoguttatus using recombinant folliclestimulating hormone

2.1. Abstract

The role of follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) in the reproductive development of protogynous hermaphroditic grouper (*Epinephelus* sp.) was investigated using recombinant giant grouper FSH (rggFSH) produced in yeast (*Pichia pastoris*). After confirming the binding capacity and steroidogenic potency of the rggFSH in *in vitro* homologous receptor assay and ovarian stimulation assay, respectively, its effects on gonad development was examined on sexually immature tiger grouper injected weekly over a period of 38 weeks. After 8 weeks of treatment (100 µg/kg body weight, BW), treated fish exhibited larger and more advanced oocytes (cortical alveolar stage compared to primary growth in control). Sustained treatment (20 to 38 weeks at 200 µg/kg BW) resulted in significant reduction in gonad size associated with degeneration of oocytes and proliferation of spermatogonial cells, which are indicative of female to male sex change. In contrast, control fish have shown ovarian development exhibiting cortical alveolar stage oocytes by the end of the trial. Gene expression analysis have shown that steroidogenic genes *cyp11b* and *cyp19a1a* were significantly suppressed among rggFSH-treated fish after 38 weeks, which prevented increase in the endogenous production of sex steroid hormones. Analysis of the expression profile of sex markers including *dmrt1*, amh, figla and bmp15 provided some insights on mechanism underlying rggFSH-induced sex reversal. Based on our results, we propose that the process of female to male sex change in the protogynous grouper is initiated by FSH, rather than sex steroid and likely involves steroidindependent pathway. The cortical alveolar stage is the critical point after which FSH-induced sex reversal is possible.

2.2. Introduction

Vertebrate reproductive development is tightly regulated by the two pituitary gonadotropic hormones, follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH). Gonadotropins are heterodimeric glycoprotein hormones consisting of a common α subunit and a unique β subunit (Boime and Ben-Menahem, 1998; Suzuki *et al.*, 1988b), responsible for the specific physiological function of each gonadotropin through interaction with their cognate receptors (Levavi-Sivan *et al.*, 2010). Unlike in mammals, where the function of gonadotropins is clearly defined and established, a considerable aspect of the roles of fish gonadotropins remains to be elucidated, one of the main reasons being the diverse reproductive strategies exhibited by fish. The current understanding on fish gonadotropins has been almost exclusively generated from studies on gonochoristic species.

Since the duality of gonadotropins was first demonstrated in salmon, LH has been extensively studied in fish and its indispensable role during the final gamete maturation has been consistently demonstrated. Its mRNA and protein expression levels exhibit a surge or are sharply elevated shortly before or at the onset of final oocyte maturation in females and spermiation in males (Hassin *et al.*, 2000; Nyuji *et al.*, 2012; Ogiwara *et al.*, 2013; Prat *et al.*, 1996). Gonads have also been shown to preferentially respond to LH rather than FSH stimulation in biosynthesizing and secreting the maturation inducing steroid, 17α , 20β-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one (DHP) (Kawauchi *et al.*, 1989; Suzuki *et al.*, 1988c). Recent report of *lh* gene disruption in female zebrafish resulted in failure of oocytes to undergo final maturation and ovulation despite normal follicular development (Chu *et al.*, 2014). The role of LH in final gamete maturation has also been implicated in non-gonochoristic protogynous species (Cui *et al.*, 2007; Kitano *et al.*, 2011).

FSH, on the other hand, is primarily involved during the early stages of gametogenesis in fish. In females, FSH promotes oocyte growth through regulation of vitellogenin uptake (Tyler *et al.*, 1991). In males, FSH stimulates spermatogonial proliferation and initiates spermatogenesis (Nóbrega *et al.*, 2015). Genetic disruption of *fsh* in zebrafish interrupted the onset of both ovarian and testicular development (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). This regulatory role of FSH is achieved through stimulation of gonadal steroidogenesis, particularly the synthesis of the key sex steroid hormones, 17β -Estradiol (E₂) and 11-Ketotestosterone (11KT). Specific

21

effects of FSH could also be mediated independent of steroids as shown recently in *in vitro* trials using salmon and zebrafish testis, wherein expression of a suite of FSH responsive genes were not suppressed in the presence of trilostane, an inhibitor of 11KT synthesis (Nóbrega *et al.*, 2015; Sambroni *et al.*, 2013). Generally, fish exhibit a sustained expression of FSH in order to support the process of sexual maturation, which is a more prolonged process relative to final oocyte maturation and ovulation (Molés *et al.*, 2011; Nyuji *et al.*, 2013; Suzuki *et al.*, 1988a).

A few studies in sequentially hermaphroditic teleosts, which mature as one sex and later change into the opposite sex, have noted the sexually dimorphic expression of FSH (Y. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010; Meiri *et al.*, 2004; Ohta *et al.*, 2008). The involvement of FSH in the process of protogynous sex reversal (female to male) has been demonstrated in honeycomb grouper (Y. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010). With the existing literature being fragmentary, the role of FSH in the reproduction of hermaphroditic fish remains unclear. For instance, it is not understood how FSH supports one sex, and then shifts that function to promote sex change, or whether FSH supports the maintenance of a particular sex.

Groupers are protogynous hermaphrodites, maturing first as females and then reversing to males, and have been used as a model species to study the biology of sex differentiation and sex change in teleosts (Zhou and Gui, 2010). In the present study, we report the production of a recombinant giant grouper FSH and provide evidence of its *in vitro* bioactivity by a homologous receptor binding assay and ovarian sex steroid stimulation assay. We also demonstrate its *in vivo* bioactivity via administration to sexually immature tiger grouper (*E. fuscoguttatus*) and describe the effects of chronic treatment on gonadal development and gene expression. Our results provide a potential hypothesis regarding the role of FSH during gonadal maturation and sex change in a protogynous hermaphrodite. Our long-term goal is to advance sexual maturation and control sex change in giant groupers (E. lanceolatus), a high-value aquaculture species, which is now classified as vulnerable by the IUCN (Shuk Man and Wai Chuen, 2006).

2.3. Materials and methods

2.3.1. Isolation of gene sequences

The sequences encoding for genes relevant for this study were obtained from transcriptomic data generated in-house. Total RNA was extracted from giant grouper (*E. lanceolatus*) and tiger grouper (*E. fuscoguttatus*) tissue samples (brain, hypothalamus, pituitary gland, and gonad) using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen). The quality of RNA extracts was evaluated using RNA 6000 Nano Kit for the 2100 Bioanalyzer instrument (Agilent). RNA with RIN >7 were sent to Novogene, Hong Kong for library preparation and RNA-Seq on an Illumina HiSeq platform, producing 150 bp paired end reads. Transcriptome assembly and annotation were done as described previously (Bar *et al.*, 2016). Briefly, raw reads were processed through Trimgalore (v0.4.4) to remove Illumina adapters followed by quality checking using FastQC (v0.11.5). *De novo* transcriptome assembly was then done using Trinity (v2.5.0) while subsequent annotation was done by sequence alignment similarity search (BLAST v2.2.30).

The transcriptomic analysis of giant grouper was done by Dr. Ido Bar while that of tiger grouper was done with significant assistance of Dr. Kelli Anderson. Both researchers are members of the Genecology Centre, USC.

2.3.2. Production of rggFSH

Production of rggFSH in yeast (*Pichia pastoris*) expression system was done following previously described methods (Aizen *et al.*, 2007; Kasuto and Levavi-Sivan, 2005). The expression cassette designed to produce a single chain peptide consisted of the mature protein-coding sequences of giant grouper FSH β - and α -subunits linked with a histidine tag (Fig. 2.1.). The histidine tag is also utilized as the basis for purification and antibody detection. This was codon-optimized according to *P. pastoris* coding preference prior to ligation into pPIC9K expression vector. Following electroporation of the *Sal*I-linearized construct, yeast transformants were plated onto histidine-deficient agar plates (2% agar, 1 M sorbitol, 2% dextrose, 1.34% yeast nitrogen base, 0.4 ppm biotin, and 0.005% L-glutamic acid, L-methionine, L-lysine, L-leucine, and L-isoleucine). To screen for colonies containing high copy number of the construct, colonies were grown in YPD broth with increasing dose of G418 sulphate antibiotic (1-2 mg/ml; Sigma-Aldrich). Three surviving colonies were further tested

for recombinant protein expression following a published method (Aizen *et al.*, 2007). Yeast colonies were separately cultured in 50 ml BMM (100 mM potassium phosphate buffer, 1.34% yeast nitrogen base, 4x10⁻⁵% biotin) by the shake flask method and induced by adding 1% methanol every day for 72 h. Recombinant protein was purified from the medium using Ni-NTA Superflow beads (Qiagen) following manufacturer's instruction and were subjected to western blot analysis. One colony was then selected for large scale production.

Purified recombinant protein was subjected to SDS-PAGE and western blot analysis as previously described (Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, 2017). Briefly, recombinant protein products were treated with *N*-glycosidase (PNGase F; New England Biolabs) according to manufacturer's instruction. Proteins were then resolved in 12% polyacrylamide gel (Mini-PROTEAN TGX Precast Gels; BioRad) at 150 V for 1 h and then transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane (Trans-blot turbo transfer system transfer pack; BioRad). Western blot was done as follows: (1) the membrane was blocked with blocking buffer consisting of Tris-buffered saline pH 7.5 (TBS; 50 mM Tris-Cl, 150 mM NaCl), 3% BSA and 0.1% Tween-20 overnight at 4°C; (2) washed twice with TBS containing 0.05% Tween-20 and 0.2% Triton X-100 (TBS-TT) and once with TBS for 10 mins at room temperature; (3) incubated with penta-his antibody (1:2,000; Qiagen) diluted in blocking buffer for 1 h at room temperature; (4) washed twice with TBS-TT and once with TBS, and; (5) incubated with secondary antibody (IRDye 800 CW 1:5,000; Li-Cor). Protein bands were then visualized using Odyssey CLx Infrared Imaging System (Li-Cor).

To produce large quantity of rggFSH, yeast was induced in a biofermentor (BioFlo 115; New Brunswick) following *Pichia* Expression Kit Manual (Catalog no. K1710-01, 2010; Thermo Scientific). The fermentation basal salts medium was supplemented with 1% casamino acid. Temperature was reduced from 30°C to 22°C after yeast has adapted to methanol (about 18 h after methanol feed started). The recombinant protein was purified from the medium using Ni-NTA Superflow beads (Qiagen) following manufacturer's instruction and then dialysed in 10kDa molecular weight cut off dialysis cassette (ThermoFisher Scientific) against 0.1x PBS (PBS Tablet; Sigma) for 4 h at 4°C. The amount of rFSH was quantified using NanoOrange[™] Protein Quantitation Kit (Invitrogen). Recombinant proteins were then lyophilized.

2.3.3. In vitro activation of giant grouper FSH Receptor

To confirm that the recombinant protein is bioactive, a receptor binding activity was conducted using COS-7 cells transiently expressing ggFSHR and luciferase reporter gene that is controlled by a cAMP responsive element (CRE-Luc in pGL4.29; Promega, USA). For this, an expression construct of the ggFSHR was designed using the pcDNA3.1 (Fig. 2.1). The assay was based on earlier studies (Biran *et al.*, 2008; Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, 2017) with some modifications. Briefly, 3 µg ggFSHR and CRE-Luc was transfected into COS-7 cells (15 ml culture in Petri dish) using TransIT-LT1 Transfection Reagent (MirusBio) according to manufacturer's instruction. After 18 h, cells were then divided equally and seeded into 6 well plate wherein they were starved with serum-free medium for 18-24 h. Starving medium consisted of Dubelcco Modified Eagle Medium (Gibco) containing 0.5% BSA, 1% antibiotics (Pen-Strep; Gibco) and 1% Nystatin. This was followed by treatment with increasing doses of rggFSH (0-1,000 ng/ml) and incubation for 6 hours. Cells were then lysed using Luciferase Cell Culture Lysis 5X Reagent (Promega) according to manufacturer's instruction. Luciferase activity was read using EnSpire Multimode Plate Reader (PerkinElmer).



			Бап		_
-	5'CMV	ggFSH-R	stop	3'CMV	-
pcDNA3.1(-)				pcDNA3.	.1(-)

Fig. 2.1. Construction of the expression vector for the giant grouper FSH and FSHR. FSH: The expression cassette consisting of mature giant grouper FSH β , a linker sequence and GTH α were ligated in the EcoRI-NotI restriction sites of pPIC9K. Flanking the cloning site at the 5' end is the promoter sequence of alcohol oxidase gene (*AOX1*) and an α yeast mating factor which directs the recombinant protein into the secretory pathway. FSHR: Mature coding sequence of ggFSHR was inserted into XhoI-BamHI restriction sites. Expression is driven by cytomegalovirus promoter.
2.3.4. In vitro stimulation of ovarian steroidogenesis

The potency to stimulate the steroidogenic pathway by rggFSH was tested using ovarian tissue following methods described previously (Aizen *et al.*, 2007; Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, 2017) with few modifications. Briefly, about 80 mg tissue fragments were prepared from vitellogenic ovary of tiger grouper *E. fuscoguttatus* (2.2 kg body weight, bw; 1.5 % GSI) and distributed in 24-well plate with 1 ml basal eagle medium. Tissue fragments were preincubated for three hours changing the medium every hour followed by treatment with increasing doses of rggFSH (0 to 800 ng/ml) for 18 hours at 28°C. The medium was then collected and the steroids were extracted with 5 ml diethyl ether per sample. Steroid extracts were kept in -80°C until analysis for E₂.

2.3.5. rggFSH-treatment of immature grouper

Sexually immature tiger groupers (*E. fuscoguttatus*; 720±50 g BW; 34±1 cm total length, TL) were kept in concrete tanks equipped with flow-through water system. Each fish was implanted with a PIT tag (Biomark HPT9; Biomark, USA) for identification. Groupers were fed with fresh fish and squid and were also allowed to acclimate in the set up for about two months before the hormonal treatment.

Fish were given weekly intramuscular injections of 0 (Control, N=10) or 100 μ g FSH/kg BW (rggFSH, N=10) in the first eight weeks and then the dose was increased to 200 μ g/kg BW in rggFSH group until 38 weeks. Three fish from each group were sacrificed after 8 and 20 weeks, and the remaining fish were sacrificed after 38 weeks of treatments. Anaesthetics were applied before handling (200 ppm 2-phenoxyethanol; Sigma, Singapore). Fish were sacrificed by anaesthetic overdose followed by decapitation. For gene expression analysis, tissue samples were immediately stabilised in RNALater and then kept at -80°C until analysis.

2.3.6. Sample analyses

Estradiol and testosterone were quantified through competitive enzyme immuno-assay as described by Rahman *et al* (Rahman *et al.*, 2000) using commercially available reagents: steroid standards (E₂ and T; Sigma, Singapore), T and E₂ antibody-tracer sets (CosmoBio,

Japan), and mouse anti-rabbit IgG (Sigma, Singapore). For 11-KT ELISA, a commercial kit was used (Cayman Chemicals) following manufacturer's instruction.

Plasma FSH levels were determined using a competitive ELISA developed for yellow tail kingfish (ytk; *Seriola lalandi*) FSH. The primary antibody was a rabbit antiserum raised against ytkFSHβ subunit while the standard was a purified full length recombinant ytkFSH (Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, 2017). Parallelism of cross reactivity was confirmed between serially diluted recombinant ytkFSH and rggFSH. Details of the development of the competitive FSH ELISA will be published elsewhere.

For histological examination, tissues were fixed in Bouin's solution and subsequently processed using standard histological techniques, sectioned at 5 μ m, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Sections were examined under Leica DM5500 microscope. Oocyte sizes were measured using ImageJ 1.51j8.

2.3.7. Gene expression analysis

Total RNA was extracted from each gonad sample and reverse-transcribed using commercial kits (RNeasy Mini Kit, QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit; Qiagen) following manufacturer's specifications. The quality of RNA extracts was confirmed through gel electrophoresis and using 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent). Quantitative real-time PCR was performed with 10 µl total reaction volume consisting of 5 µl of Platinum SYBR Green qPCR SuperMix-UDG (Invitrogen), 0.4 μ l each of forward and reverse primers (10 μ M), 3.2 μ l water and 1 μ l template. Assays were run on Corbett Rotor-Gene 6000 (Qiagen) in Rotor-Disc 72 using the following cycling conditions: 50°C for 2 min, 95°C for 2 min, 40 cycles of 95°C and 60°C for 15 and 20 sec, respectively. Each sample was assayed in duplicate. Each assay included a no-template control which showed no amplification over 40 cycles, and two standard dilutions (1.0x10⁷) and 1.0×10^4 copies/µl). Specificity of the products were further examined by their melt curves. Copy number were calculated by comparing the sample threshold cycle (C_T) values to a standard curve (89-105% efficiency; Table 2.2). For each gene, a standard curve was constructed from seven concentrations $(1.0 \times 10^8 \text{ to } 1.0 \times 10^2 \text{ copies}/\mu\text{l})$ of serially diluted PCRamplified gene fragments (400-450 bp product size; Table 2.1). Primers used to amplify 110-150 bp-fragment of genes from the samples are shown in Table 2.2. The calculated copy number of the samples were presented relative to that of the reference gene (conserved oligomeric Golgi complex subunit 5, *Cog5*). Cog5 was chosen as the reference gene for this study as recommended from previous study (Wang *et al.*, 2017) showing its stable expression in gonadal tissue of another grouper species *E. akaara*.

2.3.8. Statistical analysis

All data are presented as the mean \pm SEM. Values were subjected to one-way analysis of variance followed by multiple comparison using Tukey test. To compare control and rggFSH values within each time point, independent samples t-test was performed. The differences were considered significant at *P*<0.05.

2.3.9. Ethics

This study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of the Sunshine Coast (approval no. AN/A/16/102).

Gene	Forward Primer Sequence (5'-3') Reverse Primer Sequence (5'-3')		Product size (bp)
fshr	GCACCTCAGGAAACTCATCATA	CATTTCTGGTGAGCCGTATCT	416
foxl2	CAACACGACCAAGGAGAAAGAG	GTCTCCTCCGAACAAGGATTTC	430
cyp19a1a	CAATGGAGAGGAGACACTCATAC	CTCTGGTGAATCCAGTCAAACT	450
bmp15	CAGTACAACCTCGACACTCTTC	CCCTTTCCTCCTCCAGGTATAA	430
amh	GGAGGAATCAGAGGTGTCAAAG	GAAGAAGGAGGTGTGTGAAGAG	420
cyp11b	CAGGTGTTGGAAAGAAGGGTAT	TCCATCGCAACCTCATCAAG	430
sox9	GGGTCAAGACTACAAGAAGGAG	CATTTGGAGAGATGTGGGTTTG	434
figla	AGGAGAGACTGAGAATCAGGAA	AGCAGGGTTGAGACATCAAAG	420
igf3	CACTGAAGGTGTTCTGTGTTTG	GTCTGAGAGAAGGCTGTGTT	450
dmrt1	CCATCCAAAGGCCACAAATC	GACGGCTGGTAGAAGTTGTAATA	449
cog5	AGCTTCCACGAATTCACTTCT	CCTCTTGCTCAGGTACAAGATAC	406

 Table 2.1. Nucleotide primers used to create standard concentrations.

Table 2.2. Nucleotide primers used to amplify genes from the samples and to construct standard curve. These primers amplify sequence within the ~400 bp sequence amplified by their respective primer in Table 1.

Gene —	Primer Sequences (5'-3')		Product size	Standard curve
	Forward	Reverse	(bp)	efficiency
fshr	CGACATGCTGGAGAGTATCAC	GGGAGATCAGAGAAAGCAGAAG	120	1.00
foxl2	GAAAGGTTGGCAGAACAGTATCAGA	TGGGTCGAGTGTCCAGTAATTC	112	0.92
cyp19a1a	GTTTGGGTCATGTGGATGTCCT	AACACAGTCTGCCATGTGTCAA	142	1.00
bmp15	CAGAGCCTCATTCATCCATCTC	CAAAGCTCTCTTTGCCCAGT	143	0.90
amh	TCGTGTTGACCTTTGAACTCT	CGACTGACTCGTGAAAGTGATA	119	0.97
cyp11b	CTGACATCGCTGAGCTGTTT	CGTTCTTGAGGAACACTCCTTT	117	0.89
sox9	CTGGAGATTGCTCAACGAAGTA	TTGCCCGTTCTTGACAGATT	133	0.89
figla	GAGCGCATTGAGGATGGATT	GGAGCTACTTGGATGATGAACTG	122	1.01
igf3	GCTGTGGTTCTGATCTCCTTAG	ACTGGTCAACAATACCCTTCC	123	1.02
dmrt1	GCCAGTGTCCCAAATGTAAAC	AGAGCCACAGGACTACAAATC	118	0.91
cog5	TGGATGCTACGCTGATTTCC	CCTTGTCCAGCTGACTGATG	128	1.05

2.4. Results

2.4.2. Production of rggFSH

Recombinant ggFSH was successfully produced in *P. pastoris* using the pPIC9K expression vector utilizing the secretory pathway. Initial attempts to induce rggFSH expression in the biofermentor at the recommended culture temperature of 30°C yielded a low quantity and degraded protein products (data not shown). After optimizing the induction condition, efficient protein expression was achieved by reducing the temperature to 22°C after the yeast has adapted to methanol (~18 h). Addition of 1% casamino acid into the culture medium further enhanced the expression efficiency and at the same time reducing recombinant protein degradation. Production rate in the bioferementor ranged from 100-150 mg per litre culture media. Western blot analysis using anti-His tag antibody has shown an immuno-reactive band of about 30 kDa (Fig. 2.2., inset image).

2.4.3. In vitro bioactivity of rggFSH

The *in vitro* bioactivity of rggFSH was first assessed through a homologous receptor binding assay in COS-7 cells transiently expressing giant grouper FSHR and a luciferase reporter gene that responds to cAMP production. Luciferase activity displayed a dose response curve (Fig. 2.2.). Second, the potency of rggFSH to stimulate secretion of sex steroids was tested using grouper ovarian fragments. Both E₂ and T secretion increased in response to FSH-stimulation (Fig. 2.3.), following a dose-dependent manner. These results confirmed the *in vitro* bioactivity of our rggFSH.



Fig. 2.2. Luciferase activity in response to rggFSH-stimulation during *in vitro* receptor binding assay. Inset: Western blot analysis of rggFSH showing an immuno-reactive band of about 30 kDa. Qiagen 6xHis ladder (laft lane) and 30 kDa rggFSH (right lane).



Fig. 2.3. *In vitro* sex steroid secretion of grouper ovarian fragments in response to rggFSH-stimulation. Each value is a mean of three replicates. Values with the same superscript are not significantly different.

2.4.4. Effect of rggFSH on gonadal development of immature grouper

Weekly intramuscular administration of rggFSH (100 µg/kg BW) to sexually immature tiger grouper (670-770 g BW) was conducted to assess the effect of rggFSH on reproductive development of a protogynous fish, the tiger grouper. The changes in gonad (GSI) and oocyte size (diameter) in response to rggFSH-treatment are shown in Fig. 2.4. After 8 weeks, treated fish had significantly larger and more advanced oocytes (cortical alveolar stage) compared with control, which exclusively had primary growth stage oocytes (Fig. 2.5.). Treated fish also had higher GSI although statistically significant differences were not observed. After 20 weeks of treatment, the rggFSH-treated fish exhibited significantly smaller GSI and mean oocyte diameter. Gonadal histology revealed regression of oocytes, proliferation of spermatogonial cells and occurrence of few spermatogenic cysts containing spermatocytes. In contrast, in the control group, oocytes grew larger, advancing into cortical alveolar stage. Similar histological features were observed, respectively, in the treated and control group after prolonged treatment to 38 weeks. In treated fish, regression of oocytes and proliferation of spermatogonial cells were observed. There were few spermatogenic cysts observed in the gonad containing spermatocytes, however the accumulated spermatogonial cells appeared to have remained largely undifferentiated after 38 weeks of treatment. The control group had oocytes in cortical alveolar stage similar to what was observed after 20 weeks of treatment although one out of four showed signs of spermatogonial proliferation (data not shown). This may be attributed to the grouper's natural tendency to balance the sex ratio in the population (Bright et al, unpublished data). Nevertheless, the consistent histological response observed among treated individuals demonstrated the biological effect of rggFSH.



Fig. 2.4. Effect of rggFSH-treatment on GSI and oocyte diameter of immature tiger grouper at different time points. Each GSI value represents a mean of three to four fish while oocyte diameter represents mean of 150-200 measurements. Error bars denote standard error of the mean. Values marked with asterisks (**) are significantly different (P<0.05).



Fig. 2.5. Gonad histological changes in sexually immature tiger grouper in response to rggFSH-treatment. PG = primary growth stage oocyte, CA = cortical alveolar stage oocyte, AO = atretic oocyte, SP = spermatogonia, SC = spermatogenic cyst. Scale bar = $50 \mu m$.

2.4.5. Effect of rggFSH on plasma sex steroids and FSH

The circulating levels of the sex steroids E₂, T and 11KT were determined at specific time points during the trial and results are presented in Fig. 2.5. After 8 weeks of treatment, there was a significantly higher level of E₂ and T in the treated group than in control. After 20 and 38 weeks of treatment, circulating E₂ in treated fish declined to control level concurrent with the observed degeneration of oocytes. On the other hand, control fish, which were advancing into cortical alveolar stage, had increased T level although these were not converted into E₂ likely due to insufficient aromatase (Fig. 2.7.: *cyp19a1a*). Levels of 11KT were notably higher in treated fish from 20 to 38 weeks of treatment, however variability was high among individuals and thus did not account for significant difference.

Throughout the trial, no significant differences were observed between treated and control groups in terms of the circulating levels of FSH. Because blood samples are collected one week after the last treatment, this suggests that the rggFSH is quickly cleared from the circulation. This result also suggests that the rggFSH did not stimulate upregulation of endogenous FSH production and that the higher steroid levels at 8 weeks did not exert a negative feedback of FSH release.



Fig. 2.6. Circulating levels of sex steroid hormones and FSH during rggFSH-treatment in sexually immature tiger grouper. Each bar represents a mean of 3-5 values ± SEM. Values marked with asterisks (*) are significantly different.

2.4.6. Effect of rggFSH on expression of reproductive genes

The mRNA expression profile of several reproduction-related genes was analysed using qPCR. Ovary-associated genes, including *cyp19a1a*, *foxl2*, and *figla*, showed increasing expression throughout the trial in the control group, suggesting progression of ovarian development. Expression of *cyp19a1a* and *foxl2* in treated fish initially increased (from 8 to 20 weeks of treatment) but was suppressed towards the end of the experiment. Interestingly, *figla* appeared to be unaffected by rggFSH treatment, showing a similar expression pattern to the control group. The level of *bmp15*, which has been shown to maintain femaleness in zebrafish (Dranow *et al.*, 2016), showed progressively increasing trend in both treated and control group, similar to the *figla* expression pattern.

The testis-associated genes *cyp11b* and *sox9* both showed significantly lower expression in treated than in control after 38 weeks of treatment (Fig. 2.7.). On the other hand, *dmrt1* and *amh*, which are also testis-associated genes, displayed stable expression throughout the trial, and neither varied between the two groups (Fig. 2.8.).

Initial expression levels of *fshr* and *igf3* did not vary until 38 weeks of treatment, where expression was significantly suppressed in the treated fish (Fig. 2.7.).



Fig. 2.7. Expression profile of reproductive genes in the gonad affected by rggFSH-treatment. Gene expression is expressed relative to *cog5* mRNA level. Each bar represents a mean of 3-4 values. In each time point, significant difference (*P*<0.05) between control and rggFSH values is denoted by asterisks (**). Within each treatment group, values with the same superscript are not significantly different.



Fig. 2.8. Expression profile of reproductive genes in the gonad which were not affected by rggFSH-treatment. Gene expression is expressed relative to *cog5* mRNA level. Each bar represents a mean of 3-4 values. In each time point, no significant differences were found between control and rggFSH values. Within each treatment group, values with the same superscript are not significantly different.

2.5. Discussion

In fish, FSH is known to initiate oogenesis in females and spermatogenesis in males, however it is not clear how this model fits in the context of sex-changing species such as the protogynous groupers. A few studies have examined the effect of recombinant FSH on the reproductive development of groupers at the gonad level, describing primarily the gonad histological changes (Chen *et al.*, 2012; Kline *et al.*, 2008; Y. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010). Thus, only partial insight is currently available with regards to the role of FSH in grouper reproductive development. Here, we have produced a bioactive rggFSH and administered it to sexually immature tiger groupers over a period of 38 weeks. Our results show that rggFSH initially stimulated oocyte growth and development up to a certain point, and then redirects the gonad towards testicular development. We also describe the associated changes in the expression of reproduction-related genes.

The recombinant giant grouper FSH was produced using the *P. pastoris* expression system following the commonly used single-chain design (Aizen *et al.*, 2007; Kasuto and Levavi-Sivan, 2005). Both the *in vitro* receptor binding assay and ovarian bioassay produced a dose-dependent response confirming the bioactivity of the rggFSH. Histidine-linked recombinant FSHs that were proven bioactive have been previously produced for Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* (Aizen *et al.*, 2007), yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, 2017), common carp *Cyprinus carpio* (Aizen *et al.*, 2016), Japanese eel *Anguilla japonica* (M. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010), orange spotted grouper *E. coioides* (Chen *et al.*, 2012) and Russian sturgeon *Acipenser gueldenstaedtii* (Yom-Din *et al.*, 2016). Such recombinant FSHs have been shown to be potent even in inter-specific *in vitro* bioassays (Aizen *et al.*, 2012b, 2012a). Their biological activity have also been demonstrated in *in vivo* trials where they consistently induced steroidogenesis and gonad development (Aizen *et al.*, 2016; Chen *et al.*, 2012; M. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010; Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, 2017). Altogether, results of both previous studies and the present one demonstrate the bioactivity of single-chain recombinant FSH.

The treatment of sexually immature tiger grouper with rggFSH for eight weeks resulted in significant increase in oocyte diameter and advanced oocyte stage (cortical alveolar stage oocytes *vs* primary growth stage oocytes in control). Single injection of recombinant seabream FSH (~8.5 μ g/kg BW) also stimulated oocyte development up to cortical alveolar

stage in Sevenband grouper *E. septempfasciatus* after five weeks. (Kline *et al.*, 2008). In juvenile orange spotted grouper *E. coioides*, treatment with homologous recombinant FSH resulted in the occurrence of primary growth stage oocytes (Chen *et al.*, 2012). Therefore results from the present and previous studies on grouper show that FSH stimulates oogenesis up to cortical alveolar stage. In female gonochoristic fish, including Yellowtail kingfish *S. lalandi* (Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, 2017), rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Ko *et al.*, 2007) and Japanese eel *Anguilla japonica* (Kazeto *et al.*, 2008) recombinant FSH promoted ovarian development up to vitellogenic stage. In the present study, in order to support the progression of oocytes from cortical alveolar stage into vitellogenic stage, treatment was extended and the dose was increased from 100 (first 8 weeks) to 200 µg/kg BW in the succeeding weeks of treatment.

Further treatment with rggFSH for 20 weeks resulted in a significant reduction in the size of the gonad, which contained degenerating oocytes and proliferating spermatogonial cells, indicative of sex reversal. A similar response was exhibited by mature female honeycomb grouper, where oocytes were degenerated and spermatogonial cell proliferated after single administration of purified bovine FSH (Y. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010). Although it has been discussed earlier that FSH promoted oocyte development in groupers, these findings when taken together, suggest that the effect of FSH on the reproductive development of grouper depends on their gonadal maturity. More importantly, the present study provides clear evidence that FSH shifts from promoting ovarian development to inducing sex reversal after cortical alveolar stage is reached.

During the natural process of sex reversal in honeycomb grouper, the early transition stage (initiation) is associated with regression of oocytes and proliferation of spermatogonial cells while the late stage is associated with high prevalence of differentiated spermatogenic cysts and minimal occurrence of atretic oocytes (Bhandari *et al.*, 2003). On the other hand, the progression of sex reversal to the late stage is concurrent with a surge in androgen level (T and 11KT) (Alam *et al.*, 2006; Bhandari *et al.*, 2003). In the present study, rggFSH-injected tiger groupers appeared to have remained in the early stage of sex reversal between 20 and 38 weeks wherein spermatogonial cells were accumulated but did not differentiate and significant increase in T and 11KT was not observed. Therefore, the rggFSH-induced sex reversal observed in the present study was restricted in the early transition stage.

The expression of *dmrt1* and *amh*, which are known markers of spermatogenesis, did not show any significant changes between 20 and 38 weeks of treatment, where sex reversal was observed. Earlier studies in other grouper species (Alam *et al.*, 2008; Xia *et al.*, 2007) and in the protogynous rice field eel *Monopterus albus* (Huang *et al.*, 2005) have shown that *dmrt1* expression peaks towards the late stage of female to male sex change. The same expression profile has been implicated for *amh* during the protogynous sex change of orange spotted grouper (Wu *et al.*, 2017) and rice field eel (Hu *et al.*, 2015). These observations further show that the rggFSH-treated fish in the present study did not advance to the late stage of sex reversal.

It was noted in the present study that rggFSH did not induce a significant increase in the production of endogenous T and 11KT, particularly when sex reversal was observed (20 to 38 weeks). On the contrary, our results show that rggFSH suppressed the expression of cyp11b, which encodes for the key 11KT-synthesizing enzyme. In separate *in vivo* and *in vitro* trials in other grouper species (Chen *et al.*, 2012; Y. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010), a marked reduction in androgen synthesis were noted in response to high dose of FSH. *In vitro* antagonistic effects between FSH and 11KT has also been implicated in rainbow trout rainbow testis (Sambroni *et al.*, 2013). Taken together, these suggest an inhibitory effect of FSH on endogenous androgen synthesis, and therefore the low level of androgen in the present study was most likely a consequence of weekly rggFSH administration. Moreover, the increased dosage of rggFSH-treatment from 20 to 38 weeks in this study may have further amplified the inhibition of androgen synthesis.

The mRNA levels of *fshr* and *sox9* are notably inhibited after 38 weeks in the present study. In an *in vitro* rainbow trout testis assay, the incubation with FSH upregulated the expression of *fshr* but not when co-incubated with androgen synthesis-inhibitor (Sambroni *et al.*, 2013). On the other hand, the *in vivo* expression of *sox9* has shown a significant increase after treatment with androgen (17α -methyltestosterone, MT) in orange spotted grouper (Luo *et al.*, 2010). *Sox9* is a recognized male sex determining gene whose expression is associated with the appearance of spermatocytes during sex reversal in orange spotted grouper (Luo *et al.*, 2010). These observations suggest the low expression of *fshr* and *sox9* in the present study is due to the lack of androgenic stimulation. The present and previous results further reinforce the idea that the rggFSH inhibited steroidogenic activity and thus arrested the expression of androgen-dependent genes.

It is widely recognized that sex reversal in grouper is a result of the interplay between the key sex steroid hormones, E_2 and 11KT. However, this does not reconcile with the results obtained from two separate studies that show that T and 11KT levels increases only towards the late stage of female to male sex reversal in honeycomb grouper (Alam *et al.*, 2006; Bhandari *et al.*, 2003). On the other hand, honeycomb grouper at the initiation of natural sex reversal exhibited a surge in *fsh* β expression, which gradually declined as the process progressed (Y. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010). Our results, in combination with the previous observations in honeycomb grouper, show that FSH has a primary role in initiating sex change in grouper. The possibility that there is an overlapping function of FSH and androgen in initiating sex reversal is ruled out by the evidence from sevenband grouper, where co-administration of FSH and androgen did not result in sex change (Kline *et al.*, 2008).

The specific effect of FSH on fish gonadal development (*in vivo*) that is not linked to production of sex steroids is yet to be characterized (Schulz *et al.*, 2010). However, recent *in vitro* trials in rainbow trout testis have shown that a set of genes positively respond to FSH even in the presence of trilostane, an inhibitor of androgen synthesis (Sambroni *et al.*, 2013). Results from the same study indicated antagonistic effect of FSH and androgen on the expression of certain genes associated with germ cell proliferation such as *igf3*. Another *in vitro* trial in zebrafish testis has demonstrated that FSH, in the presence of trilostane, stimulated the expression of *igf3*, which promoted spermatogonial proliferation (Nóbrega *et al.*, 2015). Evidence from our *in vivo* study and the *in vitro* studies above point to FSH initiating the process of sex reversal in groupers through a mechanism that involves sex steroid-independent genes or pathway.

The ovarian aromatase, which regulates estrogen production, is dependent on the expression of *cyp19a1a* gene and its transcriptional activator *foxl2*. Both of these genes were downregulated by rggFSH-treatment after 38 weeks in the present study. The *cyp19a1a* expression in the protogynous rice field eel increased during ovarian development and markedly downregulated during sex reversal (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). Aromatase activity is important in maintaining female sex in groupers (Bhandari *et al.*, 2005, 2004). Likewise, stable

expression of *foxl2* ensures femaleness in both hermaphroditic (Alam *et al.*, 2008) and gonochoristic fish (Baron *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2007). Expression of *cyp19a1a* and *foxl2* are co-localized in the granulosa cells (Nakamoto *et al.*, 2006) where FSH-R is also found (Alam *et al.*, 2010). Our results, combined with the previous findings, show that FSH suppresses *cyp19a1a* and *foxl2* expression during the initiation of sex reversal.

The mRNA levels of *figla* and *bmp15*, which are known positive regulators of folliculogenesis, both displayed the same expression as the control in the present study. *In vivo* expression of *figla* during female to male sex change in wrasse was stable up to the early stage of sex change and then dropped towards the late stage (Horiguchi *et al.*, 2017) concurrent with the elevation of androgen level. *In vivo* administration of androgen (MT) repressed the expression of *figla* in zebrafish (Lee *et al.*, 2017). Similarly, mRNA level of *bmp15* was repressed in orange spotted grouper when treated with MT (Wu *et al.*, 2015). Taken together, these observations suggest that androgen is required for the downregulation of *figla* and *bmp15*. It is interesting to note that in female zebrafish, disruption of *bmp15* gene resulted in failure of the oocytes to undergo secondary oocyte growth (cortical alveolar stage), and subsequent reversal of the fish into fully functional male (Dranow *et al.*, 2016). With the negative regulatory effect of androgen on *bmp15* (Lee *et al.*, 2017), inhibition of this gene could be one of the critical functions of 11KT during the advanced or final stage of sex reversal leading to the disruption of female environment (Dranow *et al.*, 2016) and thus completion of the sex reversal process.

Three forms of *igf* are found in orange-spotted grouper (*igf1*, *igf2*, and *igf3*) of which *igf3* was found to be highly expressed in the gonad (Yang *et al.*, 2015). We also found an *igf3* transcript in the tiger grouper gonad transcriptome. In zebrafish, *igf3* is upregulated by FSH (Morais *et al.*, 2017) subsequently mediating its stimulatory effect on spermatogonial proliferation (Nóbrega *et al.*, 2015). On the contrary, expression of *igf3* was constantly low in the rggFSH-treated group while it was significantly upregulated in the control group in the present study. It is therefore likely that the *igf3* is not involved in spermatogonial proliferation in tiger grouper.

In summary, the present study has produced a recombinant ggFSH using yeast and have demonstrated its *in vitro* and *in vivo* biological activities. Through long-term administration of rggFSH in sexually immature tiger grouper, we have shown that rggFSH stimulates ovarian

development but only up to cortical alveolar stage, after which rggFSH initiates sex reversal characterized by oocyte regression and spermatogonial proliferation. The initiation of sex reversal by rggFSH is mediated through a steroid-independent pathway. Prolonged administration of rggFSH during sex reversal suppresses steroidogenic activity which prevents the differentiation of accumulated spermatogonial cells thus arresting the sex reversal in the early phase.

2.6. Acknowledgement

The authors acknowledge the following for the assistance at different part of this study: Dr. Ido Bar and Dr. Kelli Anderson for bioinformatics analysis; Ms. Haydee Dumaran and Ms. Gregoria Erazo-Pagador for histological processing; Ms. Gardel Xyza Libunao and Ms. Dianne Arnaldo for technical assistance; Mr. Armando Gamuza, Mr. Joel Jimenez and Mr. Robert Fuentes for fish husbandry.

2.7. References

- Aizen, J., Hollander-Cohen, L., Shpilman, M., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2016. Biologically active recombinant carp LH as a spawning inducing agent for Carp. J. Endocrinol. JOE-16-0435. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-16-0435
- Aizen, J., Kasuto, H., Golan, M., Zakay, H., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2007. Tilapia Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (FSH): Immunochemistry, Stimulation by Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone, and Effect of Biologically Active Recombinant FSH on Steroid Secretion. Biol. Reprod. 76, 692–700. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.106.055822
- Aizen, J., Kobayashi, M., Selicharova, I., Sohn, Y.C., Yoshizaki, G., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2012a. Steroidogenic response of carp ovaries to piscine FSH and LH depends on the reproductive phase. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 178, 28–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.04.002
- Aizen, J., Kowalsman, N., Kobayashi, M., Hollander, L., Sohn, Y.C., Yoshizaki, G., Niv, M.Y., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2012b. Experimental and computational study of inter- and intraspecies specificity of gonadotropins for various gonadotropin receptors. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 364, 89–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2012.08.013
- Alam, M.A., Bhandari, R.K., Kobayashi, Y., Nakamura, S., Soyano, K., Nakamura, M., 2006. Changes in androgen-producing cell size and circulating 11-ketotestosterone level during female–male sex change of honeycomb grouper Epinephelus merra. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 73, 206–214. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrd.20393
- Alam, M.A., Kobayashi, Y., Hirai, T., Nakamura, M., 2010. Isolation, characterization and expression analyses of FSH receptor in protogynous grouper. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol., Breathing, Locomotion and Everything in Between 156, 364–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.03.001
- Alam, M.A., Kobayashi, Y., Horiguchi, R., Hirai, T., Nakamura, M., 2008. Molecular cloning and quantitative expression of sexually dimorphic markers Dmrt1 and Foxl2 during femaleto-male sex change in Epinephelus merra. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 157, 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.03.018
- Bar, I., Cummins, S., Elizur, A., 2016. Transcriptome analysis reveals differentially expressed genes associated with germ cell and gonad development in the Southern bluefin tuna (Thunnus maccoyii). BMC Genomics 17, 217. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-2397-8
- Baron, D., Cocquet, J., Xia, X., Fellous, M., Guiguen, Y., Veitia, R.A., 2004. An evolutionary and functional analysis of FoxL2 in rainbow trout gonad differentiation. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 33, 705–715. https://doi.org/10.1677/jme.1.01566
- Bhandari, R.K., Alam, M.A., Higa, M., Soyano, K., Nakamura, M., 2005. Evidence that estrogen regulates the sex change of honeycomb grouper (Epinephelus merra), a protogynous hermaphrodite fish. J. Exp. Zoolog. A Comp. Exp. Biol. 303A, 497–503. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.a.178
- Bhandari, R.K., Higa, M., Nakamura, S., Nakamura, M., 2004. Aromatase inhibitor induces complete sex change in the protogynous honeycomb grouper (Epinephelus merra). Mol. Reprod. Dev. 67, 303–307. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrd.20027
- Bhandari, R.K., Komuro, H., Nakamura, S., Higa, M., Nakamura, M., 2003. Gonadal Restructuring and Correlative Steroid Hormone Profiles during Natural Sex Change in Protogynous Honeycomb Grouper (Epinephelus merra). Zoolog. Sci. 20, 1399–1404. https://doi.org/10.2108/zsj.20.1399

- Biran, J., Ben-Dor, S., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2008. Molecular Identification and Functional Characterization of the Kisspeptin/Kisspeptin Receptor System in Lower Vertebrates. Biol. Reprod. 79, 776–786. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.107.066266
- Boime, I., Ben-Menahem, D., 1998. Glycoprotein hormone structure-function and analog design. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 54, 271-88; discussion 288–9.
- Chen, J., Zhang, Y., Tang, Z., Mao, J., Kuang, Z., Qin, C., Li, W., 2012. Production of recombinant orange-spotted grouper (Epinephelus coioides) follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) in single-chain form and dimer form by Pichia pastoris and their biological activities. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 178, 237–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.05.009
- Chu, L., Li, J., Liu, Y., Hu, W., Cheng, C.H.K., 2014. Targeted Gene Disruption in Zebrafish Reveals Noncanonical Functions of LH Signaling in Reproduction. Mol. Endocrinol. 28, 1785–1795. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2014-1061
- Cui, M., Li, W., Liu, W., Yang, K., Pang, Y., Haoran, L., 2007. Production of Recombinant Orange-Spotted Grouper (Epinephelus coioides) Luteinizing Hormone in Insect Cells by the Baculovirus Expression System and Its Biological Effect. Biol. Reprod. 76, 74– 84. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.105.050484
- Dranow, D.B., Hu, K., Bird, A.M., Lawry, S.T., Adams, M.T., Sanchez, A., Amatruda, J.F., Draper,
 B.W., 2016. Bmp15 Is an Oocyte-Produced Signal Required for Maintenance of the
 Adult Female Sexual Phenotype in Zebrafish. PLOS Genet. 12, e1006323.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006323
- Hassin, S., Claire, M., Holland, H., Zohar, Y., 2000. Early Maturity in the Male Striped Bass, Morone saxatilis: Follicle-Stimulating Hormone and Luteinizing Hormone Gene Expression and Their Regulation by Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Analogue and Testosterone. Biol. Reprod. 63, 1691–1697. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod63.6.1691
- Horiguchi, R., Nozu, R., Hirai, T., Kobayashi, Y., Nakamura, M., 2017. Expression patterns of sex differentiation-related genes during gonadal sex change in the protogynous wrasse, Halichoeres trimaculatus. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2017.06.017
- Hu, Q., Guo, W., Gao, Y., Tang, R., Li, D., 2015. Molecular cloning and characterization of amh and dax1 genes and their expression during sex inversion in rice-field eel Monopterus albus. Sci. Rep. 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16667
- Huang, X., Guo, Y., Shui, Y., Gao, S., Yu, H., Cheng, H., Zhou, R., 2005. Multiple Alternative Splicing and Differential Expression of dmrt1 During Gonad Transformation of the Rice Field Eel. Biol. Reprod. 73, 1017–1024. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.105.041871
- Kasuto, H., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2005. Production of biologically active tethered tilapia LHβα by the methylotrophic yeast Pichia pastoris. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 140, 222–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.10.016
- Kawauchi, H., Suzuki, K., Itoh, H., Swanson, P., Naito, N., Nagahama, Y., Nozaki, M., Nakai, Y., Itoh, S., 1989. The duality of teleost gonadotropins. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 7, 29–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00004687
- Kazeto, Y., Kohara, M., Miura, T., Miura, C., Yamaguchi, S., Trant, J.M., Adachi, S., Yamauchi, K., 2008. Japanese Eel Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (Fsh) and Luteinizing Hormone (Lh): Production of Biologically Active Recombinant Fsh and Lh by Drosophila S2 Cells and Their Differential Actions on the Reproductive Biology. Biol. Reprod. 79, 938–946. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.108.070052

- Kitano, H., Irie, S., Ohta, K., Hirai, T., Yamaguchi, A., Matsuyama, M., 2011. Molecular cloning of two gonadotropin receptors and their distinct mRNA expression profiles in daily oogenesis of the wrasse Pseudolabrus sieboldi. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 172, 268–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.03.012
- Kline, R.J., Khan, I.A., Soyano, K., Takushima, M., 2008. Role of Follicle-Stimulating Hormone and Androgens on the Sexual Inversion of Sevenband Grouper Epinephelus septemfasciatus. North Am. J. Aquac. 70, 266–272. https://doi.org/10.1577/A07-033.1
- Ko, H., Park, W., Kim, D.-J., Kobayashi, M., Sohn, Y.C., 2007. Biological activities of recombinant Manchurian trout FSH and LH: their receptor specificity, steroidogenic and vitellogenic potencies. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 38, 99–111. https://doi.org/10.1677/jme.1.02163
- Kobayashi, M., Hayakawa, Y., Park, W., Banba, A., Yoshizaki, G., Kumamaru, K., Kagawa, H.,
 Kaki, H., Nagaya, H., Sohn, Y.C., 2010. Production of recombinant Japanese eel
 gonadotropins by baculovirus in silkworm larvae. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Symposium
 on Fish Growth and Reproduction 167, 379–386.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.01.003
- Kobayashi, Y., Alam, M.A., Horiguchi, R., Shimizu, A., Nakamura, M., 2010. Sexually Dimorphic Expression of Gonadotropin Subunits in the Pituitary of Protogynous Honeycomb Grouper (Epinephelus merra): Evidence That Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (FSH) Induces Gonadal Sex Change. Biol. Reprod. 82, 1030–1036. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.109.080986
- Lee, S.L.J., Horsfield, J.A., Black, M.A., Rutherford, K., Fisher, A., Gemmell, N.J., 2017. Histological and transcriptomic effects of 17α-methyltestosterone on zebrafish gonad development. BMC Genomics 18, 557. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-017-3915-z
- Levavi-Sivan, B., Bogerd, J., Mañanós, E.L., Gómez, A., Lareyre, J.J., 2010. Perspectives on fish gonadotropins and their receptors. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Fish Reproduction 165, 412–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.07.019
- Luo, Y.-S., Hu, W., Liu, X.-C., Lin, H.-R., Zhu, Z.-Y., 2010. Molecular cloning and mRNA expression pattern of Sox9 during sex reversal in orange-spotted grouper (Epinephelus coioides). Aquaculture 306, 322–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.06.019
- Meiri, I., Knibb, W.R., Zohar, Y., Elizur, A., 2004. Temporal profile of β follicle-stimulating hormone, β luteinizing hormone, and growth hormone gene expression in the protandrous hermaphrodite, gilthead seabream, Sparus aurata. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 137, 288–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.04.002
- Molés, G., Gómez, A., Carrillo, M., Rocha, A., Mylonas, C.C., Zanuy, S., 2011. Determination of Fsh Quantity and Bioactivity During Sex Differentiation and Oogenesis in European Sea Bass. Biol. Reprod. 85, 848–857. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.111.091868
- Morais, R.D.V.S., Crespo, D., Nóbrega, R.H., Lemos, M.S., van de Kant, H.J.G., de França, L.R., Male, R., Bogerd, J., Schulz, R.W., 2017. Antagonistic regulation of spermatogonial differentiation in zebrafish (Danio rerio) by Igf3 and Amh. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 454, 112–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2017.06.017
- Nakamoto, M., Matsuda, M., Wang, D.-S., Nagahama, Y., Shibata, N., 2006. Molecular cloning and analysis of gonadal expression of Foxl2 in the medaka, Oryzias latipes. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 344, 353–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.03.137

- Nóbrega, R.H., Morais, R.D.V. de S., Crespo, D., de Waal, P.P., de França, L.R., Schulz, R.W., Bogerd, J., 2015. Fsh Stimulates Spermatogonial Proliferation and Differentiation in Zebrafish via Igf3. Endocrinology 156, 3804–3817. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2015-1157
- Nyuji, M., Kitano, H., Shimizu, A., Lee, J.M., Kusakabe, T., Yamaguchi, A., Matsuyama, M., 2013. Characterization, Localization, and Stage-Dependent Gene Expression of Gonadotropin Receptors in Chub Mackerel (Scomber japonicus) Ovarian Follicles. Biol. Reprod. 88. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.112.107292
- Nyuji, M., Selvaraj, S., Kitano, H., Ohga, H., Yoneda, M., Shimizu, A., Kaneko, K., Yamaguchi, A., Matsuyama, M., 2012. Changes in the expression of pituitary gonadotropin subunits during reproductive cycle of multiple spawning female chub mackerel Scomber japonicus. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 38, 883–897. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-011-9576-y
- Ogiwara, K., Fujimori, C., Rajapakse, S., Takahashi, T., 2013. Characterization of Luteinizing Hormone and Luteinizing Hormone Receptor and Their Indispensable Role in the Ovulatory Process of the Medaka. PLoS ONE 8, e54482. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054482
- Ohta, K., Mine, T., Yamaguchi, A., Matsuyama, M., 2008. Sexually dimorphic expression of pituitary glycoprotein hormones in a sex-changing fish (Pseudolabrus sieboldi). J. Exp. Zool. Part Ecol. Genet. Physiol. 309A, 534–541. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.485
- Prat, F., Sumpter, J.P., Tyler, C.R., 1996. Validation of radioimmunoassays for two salmon gonadotropins (GTH I and GTH II) and their plasma concentrations throughout the reproductivecycle in male and female rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Biol. Reprod. 54, 1375–1382. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod54.6.1375
- Rahman, M.S., Takemura, A., Takano, K., 2000. Correlation between plasma steroid hormones and vitellogenin profiles and lunar periodicity in the female golden rabbitfish, Siganus guttatus (Bloch). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 127, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-0491(00)00240-6
- Sambroni, E., Lareyre, J.-J., Gac, F.L., 2013. Fsh Controls Gene Expression in Fish both Independently of and through Steroid Mediation. PLOS ONE 8, e76684. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076684
- Sanchís-Benlloch, P.J., Nocillado, J., Ladisa, C., Aizen, J., Miller, A., Shpilman, M., Levavi-Sivan, B., Ventura, T., Elizur, A., 2017. In-vitro and in-vivo biological activity of recombinant yellowtail kingfish (Seriola lalandi) follicle stimulating hormone. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., International Symposium on Reproductive Biology and Comparative Endocrinology 241, 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.03.001
- Schulz, R.W., de França, L.R., Lareyre, J.-J., LeGac, F., Chiarini-Garcia, H., Nobrega, R.H., Miura, T., 2010. Spermatogenesis in fish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Fish Reproduction 165, 390–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.02.013
- Shuk Man, C., Wai Chuen, N., 2006. Epinephelus lanceolatus, in: The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2006.
- Suzuki, K., Kanamori, A., Nagahama, Y., Kawauchi, H., 1988a. Development of salmon GTH I and GTH II radioimmunoassays ScienceDirect. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 71, 459–467.
- Suzuki, K., Kawauchi, H., Nagahama, Y., 1988b. Isolation and characterization of subunits from two distinct salmon gonadotropins. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 71, 302–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(88)90258-4

- Suzuki, K., Nagahama, Y., Kawauchi, H., 1988c. Steroidogenic activities of two distinct salmon gonadotropins. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 71, 452–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(88)90274-2
- Tyler, C.R., Sumpter, J.P., Kawauchi, H., Swanson, P., 1991. Involvement of gonadotropin in the uptake of vitellogenin into vitellogenic oocytes of the rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 84, 291–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(91)90052-8
- Wang, D.-S., Kobayashi, T., Zhou, L.-Y., Paul-Prasanth, B., Ijiri, S., Sakai, F., Okubo, K., Morohashi, K., Nagahama, Y., 2007. Foxl2 Up-Regulates Aromatase Gene Transcription in a Female-Specific Manner by Binding to the Promoter as Well as Interacting with Ad4 Binding Protein/Steroidogenic Factor 1. Mol. Endocrinol. 21, 712–725. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2006-0248
- Wang, H., Zhang, X., Liu, Q., Liu, X., Ding, S., 2017. Selection and evaluation of new reference genes for RT-qPCR analysis in Epinephelus akaara based on transcriptome data. PLOS ONE 12, e0171646. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171646
- Wu, G.-C., Li, H.-W., Tey, W.-G., Lin, C.-J., Chang, C.-F., 2017. Expression profile of amh/Amh during bi-directional sex change in the protogynous orange-spotted grouper Epinephelus coioides. PLOS ONE 12, e0185864. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185864
- Wu, G.-C., Tey, W.-G., Li, H.-W., Chang, C.-F., 2015. Sexual Fate Reprogramming in the Steroid-Induced Bi-Directional Sex Change in the Protogynous Orange-Spotted Grouper, Epinephelus coioides. PLOS ONE 10, e0145438. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0145438
- Xia, W., Zhou, L., Yao, B., Li, C.-J., Gui, J.-F., 2007. Differential and spermatogenic cell-specific expression of DMRT1 during sex reversal in protogynous hermaphroditic groupers. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 263, 156–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2006.09.014
- Yang, H., Chen, H., Zhao, H., Liu, L., Xie, Z., Xiao, L., Li, S., Zhang, Y., Lin, H., 2015. Molecular cloning of the insulin-like growth factor 3 and difference in the expression of igf genes in orange-spotted grouper (Epinephelus coioides). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 186, 68–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2015.04.005
- Yom-Din, S., Hollander-Cohen, L., Aizen, J., Boehm, B., Shpilman, M., Golan, M., Hurvitz, A., Degani, G., Levavi-Sivan, B., 2016. Gonadotropins in the Russian Sturgeon: Their Role in Steroid Secretion and the Effect of Hormonal Treatment on Their Secretion. PLOS ONE 11, e0162344. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0162344
- Zhang, Y., Zhang, W., Yang, H., Zhou, W., Hu, C., Zhang, L., 2008. Two cytochrome P450 aromatase genes in the hermaphrodite ricefield eel Monopterus albus: mRNA expression during ovarian development and sex change. J. Endocrinol. 199, 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1677/JOE-08-0303
- Zhang, Z., Zhu, B., Ge, W., 2015. Genetic Analysis of Zebrafish Gonadotropin (FSH and LH) Functions by TALEN-Mediated Gene Disruption. Mol. Endocrinol. 29, 76–98. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2014-1256
- Zhou, L., Gui, J., 2010. Molecular mechanisms underlying sex change in hermaphroditic groupers. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 36, 181–93. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10695-008-9219-0

Chapter 3 Oral delivery of plasmid follicle stimulating hormone for induction of gonadal development in tiger grouper *Epinephelus fuscoguttatus*

3.1. Abstract

Giant grouper is an excellent culture species due to its superior growth rate, however its large size at sexual maturity complicates physical handling and increases financial input as more food and larger facility is required. As a first step to address this issue, the present study aimed to determine whether oral delivery of FSH in the form of an expression plasmid (pFSH) can induce early sexual maturation in tiger grouper. The expression construct was designed in pcDNA3.1(-) utilizing the cytomegalovirus promoter to express a single chain follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) consisting of the complete nucleotide sequence of giant grouper FSH β subunit and mature common glycoprotein subunit α , and the carboxy-terminal peptide sequence from the human chorionic gonadotropin linking the two subunits. Next, the pFSH was encapsulated with liposome and chitosan and orally administered once to juvenile tiger grouper. The treatment prompted a significant increase in plasma level of the FSH protein. Long term trial was then conducted in sexually immature tiger grouper fed with pFSH weekly for 38 weeks. Results show that pFSH stimulated physiological effect consistent with the previously reported effect of injected FSH on groupers. Fish exhibited significantly larger oocyte diameter and cortical alveolar stage oocyte after eight weeks of pFSH feeding. Prolonged treatment (20 to 38 weeks) resulted in oocyte regression, proliferation of spermatogonial cells and appearance of spermatogenic cysts. Changes in the circulating levels of sex steroid hormones, FSH and vitellogenin as well as the expression profile of key genes in the gonad were analysed throughout the course of the trial. The present study is the first to demonstrate that an orally delivered plasmid gonadotropin impacted reproductive development in fish.

3.2. Introduction

Groupers are the primary commodity in the live reef fish trade (LRFT). The giant grouper *Epinephelus lanceolatus*, in particular, is one of the most sought-after and highly priced species in the LRFT. For fish farmers, the giant grouper is a preferred species of culture due to its remarkable growth rate, capable of attaining a commercial size of 0.6 to 1.0 kg in about six months while other grouper species take a year or more (Ho *et al.*, 1997; Pierre *et al.*, 2008; Sadovy *et al.*, 2003).

Captive breeding of giant grouper is difficult due to its late age at maturation, taking about 4 years. Thus, broodstock development from hatchery-bred stock takes a long time during which expenses and risks (e.g. death due to diseases) are incurred. Once matured, handling of giant groupers is complicated due their large size – females reach sexual maturity at about 20 kg while males can reach up to 100 kg (unpublished data). Furthermore, their large size requires larger facility, more feed input, and additional labor hence a more expensive broodstock management operation. Their protogynous hermaphroditic nature, maturing first as female and then changing into male, is also a major challenge in obtaining breeders of both sexes.

While hormonal manipulations have been an integral part of controlling reproduction in aquaculture, techniques are primarily aimed at inducing captive broodstock to spawn (Mylonas *et al.*, 2010). For instance, reproductive hormones such as the Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH) is extensively used for spawning induction of marine fish (Mylonas *et al.*, 2010). GnRH is a hypothalamic neuropeptide that stimulates the pituitary gland to release gonadotropins into the circulation (Zohar *et al.*, 2010). Gonadotropin, particularly Luteinizing Hormone (LH), prompts the gonadal synthesis of the maturation inducing hormone (17,20 β -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one), which in turn triggers final oocyte maturation and ovulation in females and spermiation in males, that culminates in spawning (Levavi-Sivan *et al.*, 2010). The Human Chorionic Gonadotropin (HCG) is another hormone that exhibits the same effect as LH and is widely used for spawning induction (Mylonas *et al.*, 2010).

Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (FSH) is another pituitary gonadotropin that is, in contrast to LH, involved during the early stages of oogenesis and spermatogenesis (Levavi-Sivan *et al.*, 2010).

A number of studies have shown that administration of recombinant FSH stimulated oocyte growth in female and spermatogonial proliferation and differentiation in male in rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Ko *et al.*, 2007), Japanese eel *Anguilla japonica* (Hayakawa *et al.*, 2008; Kazeto *et al.*, 2008; M. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010), European sea bass *Dicentrarchus labrax* (Mazón *et al.*, 2014), and yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, 2017). In juvenile orange spotted grouper *E. coioides*, short-term administration of recombinant FSH stimulated the development of primary growth stage oocytes (Chen *et al.*, 2012). Although these results show that FSH could be utilized to advance gonadal development, individual administration (i.e. intramuscular or intraperitoneal injection) is logistically impractical if inducing a stock of hatchery-bred groupers.

In this study, we orally delivered plasmid DNA encoding for the giant grouper FSH (pFSH) in order to induce early sexual maturation in grouper. *In vivo* expression of fed pFSH was first demonstrated followed by induction of sexual maturation in tiger grouper *E. fuscoguttatus* through long-term feeding experiment. Results show that fed pFSH successfully stimulated reproductive development in tiger grouper and particularly favored early sex reversal. To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to demonstrate that an orally delivered plasmid gonadotropin impacted gonadal development in fish.

3.3. Materials and methods

3.3.2. Animals

Juvenile tiger groupers were obtained from the Igang Marine Station of SEAFDEC/AQD in Guimaras, Philippines. Fish were transported to SEAFDEC/AQD Tigbauan Main Station, Tigbauan, Philippines and were allowed to acclimate in the experimental set up for about a month. Two batches of juvenile tiger grouper were used in this study. The first batch consisted of 21 individuals with mean total body weight 198 \pm 9 g and total length 22 \pm 0.4 cm and was used for short term experiment (section 2.4). The second batch consisted of 20 individuals with mean total body weight 712 \pm 37 g and total length 35 \pm 0.6 cm and used for long term trial (section 2.5). Fish for each trial were separately stocked in tanks equipped with a flow-through water system. Fresh fish and squid were provided *ad libitum*. Fish were tagged with Passive Integrated Transponder (Biomark HPT9; Biomark) for subsequent identification.

This study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of the Sunshine Coast (approval no. AN/A/16/102).

3.3.3. Plasmid FSH design and production

The complete nucleotide sequences encoding for giant grouper FSH β subunit (excluding stop codon) and mature ggCG α subunit were linked with the carboxy-terminal peptide (CTP) sequence from the human chorionic Gonadotropin (Fig 3.1.). The gene sequences were obtained from giant grouper transcriptomic data generated in-house (See Chapter 2). The whole sequence encoding for single-chain FSH was then inserted into the Xhol-EcoRI restriction site of pcDNA3.1(-) expression vector, which utilizes a cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter. Synthesis of the expression vector was done commercially (GenScript, USA). Pure pFSH was transformed into *E. coli* which were subsequently used for production of large quantity of the plasmid. Plasmid purification was done using QIAGEN plasmid maxi kit following manufacturer's instruction.

Xhol I					EcoRI		
	5'CMV	ggFSHβ	СТР	ggCGα	stop	3'CMV	
pcDNA3.1(-) pcDNA3				1(-)			

Fig. 3.1. Structure of a portion of the expression vector, pcDNA3.1, which encodes for a single-chain giant grouper FSH.

3.3.4. Encapsulation of pFSH

Liposome film was prepared by dissolving L- α -phophatidylcholine (Sigma) and cholesterol (Sigma) at 4:1 ratio in chloroform which was then aliquoted in a glass test tube and dried by heating at 65°C water bath. DNA plasmid dissolved in 1 ml water (up to 1mg/ml concentration) was then added into the liposome film followed by 6 cycles of freezing in liquid nitrogen and thawing at 55°C water bath. To break the lipoplex complex down, the solution was subjected to 10 sonication pulses and extrusion through a 100 nm membrane (10 times each side) (Avanti extruder set; Avanti Polar Lipids Inc., USA). Prior to feeding, liposome solution was mixed with 5 mg/ml chitosan solution (low molecular weight; Sigma). The procedure was done multiple times to encapsulate the needed amount of DNA plasmid for every treatment.

3.3.5. In vivo expression of orally delivered pFSH

To validate the encapsulation and oral delivery method, juvenile tiger groupers were fed once with either 0 (control, N=12) or 100 μ g/kg BW pFSH DNA (N=12). In order to avoid unequal distribution of hormone, fish were individually fed with the exact dose of pFSH placed in a gelatin capsule. Blood samples were collected from both groups after 2, 4 and 7 days of feeding (3 fish each time point). Each fish was only used once for blood collection. Control samples were also collected prior to feeding. Blood was extracted from caudal vasculature using heparin-treated needles (23 G, 1½ in). Plasma was separated from blood by spinning at 4000 xg for 15 minutes at 4°C, and samples were kept at -80°C until analysis.

3.3.6. Induction of sexual maturation in tiger grouper

Fish were fed with pFSH once every week for 38 weeks at 0 (control) or 100 μ g/kg BW. Oral administration was done as in section 3.3.5. Three to four individuals were then sacrificed after 8, 20 and 38 weeks of treatment. During these sampling points, gonad tissue samples

were immediately stabilised in RNALater for subsequent gene expression analysis or fixed in Boiun's solution for histological analysis. Prior to dissection, blood samples were collected from the caudal vasculature using heparin-treated needles. In addition, blood samples were collected from fish after 14, 26 and 32 weeks of feeding. Plasma were obtained and stored as in Section 3.3.5.

3.3.7. Sample analyses

Tissue processing for gonad histological analysis was done by standard histological techniques. Tissues were sectioned at 5 μ m and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Sections were then examined under Leica DM5500 B microscope and photos were taken using the built-in camera. Oocyte sizes were measured using ImageJ (version 1.51j8).

Plasma levels of E₂ and 11KT were analysed using commercially available ELISA Kit (11-KT ELISA, Cayman Chemicals). For T, ELISA was done following the previously described method (Rahman *et al.*, 2000) using commercially available standard (T; Sigma), T antibody-tracer sets (CosmoBio), and anti-species antibody (mouse anti-rabbit IgG; Sigma).

FSH was quantified from plasma samples using a heterologous ELISA, which was developed for yellowtail kingfish (ytk; *Seriola lalandi*) FSH and is currently in preparation for publication. The ELISA consisted of: recombinant full length ytkFSH (standard), rabbit anti-recombinant ytkFSHβ (primary antibody), and peroxidase conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody (secondary antibody). Serially diluted grouper FSH and recombinant ytkFSH were initially assayed and showed parallelism of reactivity.

Plasma levels of vitellogenin were analysed using grouper vitellogenin ELISA. The system utilised a sandwich design using rabbit-anti grouper vitellogenin (capture antibody), purified grouper vitellogenin (standard), and rabbit-anti grouper vitellogenin labelled with horseradish peroxidase (detection antibody). The standard and antibodies were prepared by Prof. Akihiro Takemura, University if the Ryukyus, Japan. Details of this ELISA will be published elsewhere.

3.3.8. Quantitative real-time PCR

Total RNA was extracted using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) following manufacturer's instruction. RNA quality was validated by formaldehyde denaturing gel electrophoresis and on Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent). RNA extracts were reverse-transcribed using QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen). A 400 to 450 bp fragment of the genes of interest was amplified by PCR using primers shown in Table 2.1. The amplicons were purified using a commercial kit (QIAquick PCR Purification kit; Qiagen) and then used to construct a 7-point standard curve ranging from $1.0x10^8$ to $1.0x10^2$ copies per µl for each gene. The primers used for sample qPCR analysis and construction of standard (Table 2.2) were designed to amplify 110 to 150 bp sequence located within the span of the first primer pair.

Ten microliter qPCR reactions were prepared containing 5 μ l of 2X Platinum SYBR Green qPCR SuperMix-UDG (Invitrogen), 0.4 μ l each of forward and reverse primers (10 μ M), 3.2 μ l water and 1 μ l template. Each run included two standard points (1.0x10⁷ and 1.0x10⁴ copies/ μ l) and a no template control. All samples and control were run in duplicate. The qPCR was done on Corbett Rotor-Gene 6000 (Qiagen) in Rotor-Disc 72. The thermal cycling conditions were: 50°C for 2 min, 95°C for 2 min, 40 cycles of 95°C and 60°C for 15 and 20 sec, respectively. To determine gene copy number, the threshold cycle (C_T) value of each sample was compared to the standard curve.

3.3.9. Statistical analysis

The data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Mean values of control and pFSH were compared using independent-samples t-test and differences were considered significant at *P*<0.05. Analysis was done in SPSS Statistics 17.0.

3.4. Results

3.4.2. In vivo expression profile of fed pFSH

The profile of circulating FSH protein in the tiger groupers fed once with pFSH was analyzed in this study using a heterologous ELISA for FSH (Fig. 3.2.). Fish fed with pFSH exhibited a statistically significant increase in plasma FSH that peaked after four days and then declined to basal level after seven days. Variation among replicate fish was notably minimal, owing to the individual feeding with exact dose of pFSH. Control fish displayed a steady state level of FSH.



Fig. 3.2. FSH protein expression profile after feeding with pFSH (n=3). Asterisks (**) denote significant difference with control level (*P*<0.05).

3.4.3. Effects of pFSH on gonad and plasma hormones

Sexually immature tiger grouper (680-750 g BW) were used to demonstrate the effect of pFSH feeding on grouper reproductive development. Fish fed with pFSH for eight weeks had cortical alveolar stage oocytes, which were more advanced compared to primary growth stage oocyte found in control fish (Fig. 3.3. A, D). In addition, pFSH-fed fish had significantly larger oocyte diameter (Fig. 3.4. B) and significantly higher plasma E₂ level (Fig. 3.5. A) and plasma vitellogenin (Fig. 3.6. B). These data indicate that pFSH-feeding induced ovarian development.

Continued weekly feeding with pFSH for 20 weeks resulted in significantly lower GSI and oocyte diameter (Fig. 3.4.). The gonad histology of pFSH-fed fish was characterized by a regression of oocytes and proliferation of spermatogonial cells (Fig. 3.3. E). Plasma E₂ of pFSH-fed fish dropped to basal level (Fig. 3.5. A). These observations were indicative of sex reversal. On the other hand, control fish showed increased oocyte size and advancement of oocyte to cortical alveolar stage.

After 38 weeks, all pFSH-fed fish continued to indicate histological signs of sex reversal including regression of oocytes and accumulation of spermatogonial cells. Although few spermatogenic cysts containing spermatocytes were noted (e.g. Fig. 3.3. G), the differentiation of spermatogonial cells appeared to be minimal. Plasma 11KT level increased, although no significant difference was found. In contrast, control fish had cortical alveolar stage oocytes and significantly higher level of circulating vitellogenin (Fig. 3.6. B) indicating the progression of ovarian development except one fish which exhibited spermatogonial proliferation (data not shown).


Fig. 3.3. Representative gonad histological sections of control (A-C) or pFSH-fed (D-G) tiger grouper after 8 (A, D), 20 (B, E) and 38 (C, F, G) weeks of treatment. PG = primary growth stage oocyte, CA = cortical alveolar stage oocyte, AO = atretic oocyte, SP = spermatogonial cells, SC = spermatogenic cyst. Scale bar = $50 \mu m$.



Fig. 3.4. Effect of pFSH feeding on GSI (A) and mean oocyte size (B) of sexually immature tiger grouper. Each bar represents a mean of 3-4 fish ± SEM. Values marked with asterisk (*) are significantly different at *P*<0.5.



Fig. 3.5. Effect of pFSH feeding on circulating levels of sex steroid hormones: E2 (A), T (B), and 11KT (C). Each bar represents a mean of 3-5 fish \pm SEM. Values marked with asterisk (*) are significantly different at *P*<0.5.



Fig. 3.6. Effect of pFSH feeding on plasma levels of FSH (A) and VTG (B). Each bar represents a mean of 3-5 fish \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicate significant difference (*P*<0.05) between the two treatment groups within a time point.

3.4.4. Effects pFSH on gonadal gene expression

Quantitative PCR analysis of selected genes in the gonad showed that aromatase gene *cyp19a1a* and its transcriptional regulator *foxl2* were significantly suppressed towards the end of the trial in pFSH-fed fish. On the other hand, control fish showed a progressive increase throughout the trial supporting the histological progression of oogenesis. Expression of *figla* and *bmp15*, which are both essential in maintenance of femaleness, showed no significant difference with the control.

Gene expression of cyp11b, which codes for an enzyme that synthesizes 11KT, was significantly low after 38 weeks. Other male-related genes including *sox9*, *dmrt1*, and *amh* exhibited similar expression as in control fish.

The mRNA levels of *fshr* did not vary between control and pFSH fed fish. On the other hand, *igf3* expression was suppressed after 38 weeks of treatment.



Fig. 3.7. Effect of pFSH feeding on expression of gonad genes. Error bars denote SEM. Asterisks (**) denote significant difference (*P*<0.05) between two treatment groups within a time point.

3.5. Discussion

This study aimed to determine whether oral delivery of FSH in the form of an expression construct can induce early sexual maturation in tiger grouper.

Gene therapy has been explored in fish, however methods employed so far still involve physical handling. Injection of plasmid DNA (pDNA) that resulted in gene expression was first reported in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss, wherein luciferase activity was detected in skeletal muscle following intramuscular injection of luciferase gene (Anderson et al., 1996). Succeeding experiments in Zebrafish Danio rerio (Tan and Chan, 1997), Atlantic salmon Salmo salar (Gómez-Chiarri and Chiaverini, 1999), Glass catfish Kryptopterus bicirrhus (Dijkstra et al., 2001), and Tilapia Oreochromis niloticus (Ramos et al., 2005) have consistently shown expression of reporter gene in the muscle following intramuscular injection. In rainbow trout fingerlings, recombinant antibody was detected in the plasma 12 days after intramuscular injection of pDNA encoding the antibody (Lorenzen et al., 2000) showing that the expressed protein is released by transfected muscle cells into the circulation. Recently, in vivo electroporation of the DNA was tested to further enhance the uptake of injected plasmid DNA (LH and FSH) in European sea bass Dicentrarchus labrax (Mazón et al., 2014, 2013). This resulted in increased plasma LH peaking after 20 days while plasma FSH was significantly higher 15 to 23 days after the treatment. More importantly, plasmid therapy of FSH and LH induced spermatogenesis and spermeiogenesis, respectively in sea bass (Mazón et al., 2014, 2013). Electrotransfer of plasmid LH in orange spotted grouper E. coioides was shown to induce ovarian primary oocyte growth (Lv et al., 2017). Altogether, these studies show pDNA administration could be an alternative form in providing long-lasting availability of hormones in fish. However, these studies have so far relied on individual treatment of fish through intramuscular or peritoneal injection. Hormonal administration that involves physical handling is time consuming and stressful for fish especially when dealing with a population of cultured fish or large-sized broodstock such as giant grouper.

In the present study, we have tested an oral route of administering plasmid DNA that encodes for giant grouper FSH. Encapsulation with liposomes was first developed to deliver pharmacological agents, which are vulnerable to degradation in the digestive tract. Among the first evidences of the efficacy of this method was a study which demonstrated in rats that oral administration of liposome-encapsulated insulin moderated the blood glucose to a level comparable to that of insulin administered intramuscularly (Patel and Ryman, 1976). The encapsulation method was later modified to coating the liposome with chitosan, a mucoadhesive substance, which improved the *in vivo* physiological effect of insulin (Takeuchi *et al.*, 1996). The use of low molecular weight chitosan in preparing the modified mucoadhesive liposomes was shown to prolong the physiological effect (i.e. lowering the blood calcium level) of calcitonin in rat compared with using high molecular weight chitosan (Thongborisute *et al.*, 2006). Recently, liposomes were also used to encapsulate plasmid DNA containing influenza M1 protein gene which was expressed *in vivo*, stimulating immune response after feeding to mice (Liu *et al.*, 2014). In the present study, the liposome and chitosan encapsulated pFSH significantly increased the plasma level of FSH protein and induced physiological effects after long term administration. Altogether, these findings show the efficacy of liposome encapsulation in stabilizing bioactive compounds including protein and DNA during passage through digestive tract.

In fish, studies on oral delivery of plasmid DNA has been undertaken for its application in DNA vaccines. Feeding of chitosan-encapsulated plasmid DNA containing β -galactosidase reporter gene resulted in positive enzyme activity in spleen, stomach and gill tissues of Tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* (Ramos *et al.*, 2005), and in gut, liver and muscle tissues in gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata* (Sáez *et al.*, 2017). In two separate studies in Asian sea bass *Lates calcarifer*, chitosan facilitated intestinal uptake of an encapsulated DNA vaccine which resulted in immune resistance when challenged with pathogen (Rajesh Kumar *et al.*, 2008; Vimal *et al.*, 2014). Similarly, liposome encapsulation stabilized and promoted uptake of antigens (e.g. *Aeromonas salmonicida* antigen) that are able to generate immune response in Common carp *Cyprinus carpio* (Irie *et al.*, 2005, 2003). In the present study, plasma FSH significantly increased in fish fed with pFSH encapsulated with liposome and chitosan. Taken together, our results and those from previous studies confirm that DNA can be orally administered and subsequently expressed when encapsulated with liposome and chitosan.

The pFSH fed to tiger groupers in the present study was presumably transfected and expressed in the digestive, gill and muscle tissues similar to that reported in Tilapia (Ramos *et al.*, 2005) and gilthead sea bream (Sáez *et al.*, 2017). However, previous studies used only chitosan to encapsulate plasmid DNA while the present study used both liposome and

chitosan. Thus, further studies are required to compare *in vivo* transfection sites of orally delivered plasmid DNA encapsulated using different protocols.

Previous studies validated *in vivo* expression of fed pDNA, however data were limited to either qualitative (or descriptive) observations regarding the activity of reporter gene in various tissues or the immune response elicited by antigen gene expression. In the present study, we have quantified the plasma levels of FSH protein following a single administration of the DNA construct thus providing clear information as when and how long is pFSH expressed and translated into protein.

Tiger grouper fed with pFSH for eight weeks developed a more advanced oocyte stage (cortical alveolar stage) and significantly larger oocyte diameter, which was associated with a marked increase in plasma estrogen level. These responses are identical to that described in tiger grouper (see chapter 2) and in sevenband grouper *E. fasciatus* (Kline *et al.*, 2008), which exhibited cortical alveolar stage oocytes after receiving recombinant FSH injection. Previous trials in female gonochoristic fish have shown that oogenesis is hastened upon treatment with FSH protein as described in rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Ko *et al.*, 2007), Japanese eel *Anguilla japonica* (Kazeto *et al.*, 2008) and yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Sanchís-Benlloch *et al.*, 2017). Finally, the effect of pFSH after eight weeks of feeding coincides with the effect of intramuscular injection of rggFSH in tiger grouper (refer to Chapter 2). Our results show that orally delivered pFSH prompted a physiological response that is comparable to injected protein FSH.

After 20 and 38 weeks, a significant reduction in GSI and oocyte diameter was observed. Gonad histology was characterized by regression of oocytes, proliferation of spermatogonial cells and occurrence of spermatogenic cysts containing spermatocytes. These observations indicate that prolonged feeding of pFSH after cortical alveolar stage induces sex reversal. Again, this is identical to the response exhibited by tiger grouper after 20 to 38 weeks of rggFSH treatment (refer to Chapter 2). FSH-induced sex reversal was described in mature female honeycomb grouper *E. merra* after single injection of purified bovine FSH at 50 or 500 ng/fish (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010). In the bidirectional sex changing gobiid fish *Trimma okinawae*, the direction of sex reversal is dependent on which gonadal tissue (ovary or testis) possess higher receptor numbers for FSH (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2009). In the case of female zebrafish *Danio rerio* (Zhang *et al.*, 2015) and medaka *Oryzias latipes* (Murozumi *et al.*, 2014), genetic disruption of FSH or its receptor causes sex reversal into males. Taken together, these findings show that FSH plays a role in sex reversal of grouper. Our results suggest that the regulatory role of FSH on sex reversal is acquired at cortical alveolar oocyte stage.

In the present study, the mRNA expression of key male-related genes such as *dmrt1* and *amh* showed no significant variation between control and pFSH fed fish. In comparison, in orange spotted grouper at the late transition stage of female to male sex reversal, where the gonad is predominated by differentiated spermatogonial cells, expression of *dmrt1* and *amh* was significantly elevated (Alam *et al.*, 2008; Wu *et al.*, 2017; Xia *et al.*, 2007). In protogynous rice field eel, a significant increase in gonadal expression of *dmrt1* and *amh* was exclusively observed in the late transition stage of sex reversing individuals (Hu *et al.*, 2015; Huang *et al.*, 2005). The expression of *sox9* gene, which is a marker of spermatocytes and spermatids in orange spotted grouper (Luo *et al.*, 2010), showed no significant variation between control and pFSH-fed fish in the present study. Moreover, female associate gene including *figla* and *bmp15* did not significantly vary between treatment groups throughout the trial. Both *figla* and *bmp15* are known to play vital role in folliculogenesis in fish. These observations suggest that the sex reversal observed in the present study shows that pFSH treatment only acted to initiate sex reversal.

Between 20 and 38 weeks, when sex reversal was observed in the present study, no significant increase in the endogenous levels of 11KT was noted while the expression of *cyp11b* was significantly low than control fish. *In vitro* incubation of orange spotted grouper ovarian tissue with homologous recombinant FSH protein resulted in release of T and E2 however steroid secretion was significantly reduced at high FSH dose (Chen *et al.*, 2012). Similarly, honeycomb grouper injected with high dose of FSH (500 ng/fish) had significantly lower plasma 11KT than those injected with low dose (50 ng/fish) (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010). The present and previous results show that FSH inhibits 11KT production, which could explain why only limited differentiation of spermatogonial cells were observed in the present study. In honeycomb grouper, pituitary expression of *fsh* β displayed a surge at the initiation of natural female to male sex change but subsequently dropped as the process progress (Y. Kobayashi *et al.*, 2010). Taken together, a withdrawal of pFSH treatment after the initial treatment may be necessary to release the androgen inhibition which will then allow for the differentiation of spermatogonial cells thus the completion of sex reversal.

In summary, this study is the first to demonstrate that plasmid FSH can be orally administered and induce gonadal development in tiger grouper. We have shown that oral delivery of liposome- and chitosan-encapsulated pFSH results in subsequent *in vivo* expression of FSH protein. The effect of pFSH feeding on gonadal development of sexually immature tiger grouper is stage specific, such that it promotes oocyte development in immature individuals but initiates sex reversal in individuals that have attained cortical alveolar stage.

3.6. Acknowledgement

The authors acknowledge: Dr. Ido Bar and Dr. Kelli Anderson for assistance during transcriptome analysis; Ms. Haydee Dumaran and Ms. Gregoria Erazo-Pagador for standard histological processing; Ms. Gardel Xyza Libunao and Ms. Dianne Arnaldo for technical assistance; Mr. Armando Gamuza, Mr. Joel Jimenez and Mr. Robert Fuentes for husbandry of tiger groupers.

3.7. References

- Alam, M.A., Kobayashi, Y., Horiguchi, R., Hirai, T., Nakamura, M., 2008. Molecular cloning and quantitative expression of sexually dimorphic markers Dmrt1 and Foxl2 during femaleto-male sex change in Epinephelus merra. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 157, 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.03.018
- Anderson, E.D., Mourich, D.V., Leong, J.A., 1996. Gene expression in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) following intramuscular injection of DNA. Mol. Mar. Biol. Biotechnol. 5, 105–113.
- Chen, J., Zhang, Y., Tang, Z., Mao, J., Kuang, Z., Qin, C., Li, W., 2012. Production of recombinant orange-spotted grouper (Epinephelus coioides) follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) in single-chain form and dimer form by Pichia pastoris and their biological activities. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 178, 237–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.05.009
- Dijkstra, J.M., Okamoto, H., Ototake, M., Nakanishi, T., 2001. Luciferase expression 2 years after DNA injection in glass catfish (Kryptopterus bicirrhus). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 11, 199–202. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.2000.0303
- Gómez-Chiarri, M., Chiaverini, L.A., 1999. Evaluation of eukaryotic promoters for the construction of DNA vaccines for aquaculture. Genet. Anal. Biomol. Eng. 15, 121–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-3862(99)00014-5
- Hayakawa, Y., Nagaya, H., Kaki, H., Hotta, K., Kobayashi, M., 2008. Induction of spermatogenesis in Japanese eel by recombinant goldfish gonadotropins. Fish. Sci. 75, 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12562-008-0007-7
- Ho, Y.S., Chen, W.Y., Liao, I.C., 1997. Experiments on the artificial propagation of giant grouper Epinephelus lanceolatus. J. Taiwan Fish. Res. 5, 129–139.
- Hu, Q., Guo, W., Gao, Y., Tang, R., Li, D., 2015. Molecular cloning and characterization of amh and dax1 genes and their expression during sex inversion in rice-field eel Monopterus albus. Sci. Rep. 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16667
- Huang, X., Guo, Y., Shui, Y., Gao, S., Yu, H., Cheng, H., Zhou, R., 2005. Multiple Alternative Splicing and Differential Expression of dmrt1 During Gonad Transformation of the Rice Field Eel. Biol. Reprod. 73, 1017–1024. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.105.041871
- Irie, T., Watarai, S., Iwasaki, T., Kodama, H., 2005. Protection against experimental Aeromonas salmonicida infection in carp by oral immunisation with bacterial antigen entrapped liposomes. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 18, 235–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2004.07.006
- Irie, T., Watarai, S., Kodama, H., 2003. Humoral immune response of carp (Cyprinus carpio) induced by oral immunization with liposome-entrapped antigen. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 27, 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-305X(02)00137-4
- Kazeto, Y., Kohara, M., Miura, T., Miura, C., Yamaguchi, S., Trant, J.M., Adachi, S., Yamauchi, K., 2008. Japanese Eel Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (Fsh) and Luteinizing Hormone (Lh): Production of Biologically Active Recombinant Fsh and Lh by Drosophila S2 Cells and Their Differential Actions on the Reproductive Biology. Biol. Reprod. 79, 938–946. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.108.070052
- Kline, R.J., Khan, I.A., Soyano, K., Takushima, M., 2008. Role of Follicle-Stimulating Hormone and Androgens on the Sexual Inversion of Sevenband Grouper Epinephelus septemfasciatus. North Am. J. Aquac. 70, 266–272. https://doi.org/10.1577/A07-033.1

- Ko, H., Park, W., Kim, D.-J., Kobayashi, M., Sohn, Y.C., 2007. Biological activities of recombinant Manchurian trout FSH and LH: their receptor specificity, steroidogenic and vitellogenic potencies. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 38, 99–111. https://doi.org/10.1677/jme.1.02163
- Kobayashi, M., Hayakawa, Y., Park, W., Banba, A., Yoshizaki, G., Kumamaru, K., Kagawa, H.,
 Kaki, H., Nagaya, H., Sohn, Y.C., 2010. Production of recombinant Japanese eel
 gonadotropins by baculovirus in silkworm larvae. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Symposium
 on Fish Growth and Reproduction 167, 379–386.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.01.003
- Kobayashi, Y., Alam, M.A., Horiguchi, R., Shimizu, A., Nakamura, M., 2010. Sexually Dimorphic Expression of Gonadotropin Subunits in the Pituitary of Protogynous Honeycomb Grouper (Epinephelus merra): Evidence That Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (FSH) Induces Gonadal Sex Change. Biol. Reprod. 82, 1030–1036. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.109.080986
- Kobayashi, Y., Nakamura, M., Sunobe, T., Usami, T., Kobayashi, T., Manabe, H., Paul-Prasanth,
 B., Suzuki, N., Nagahama, Y., 2009. Sex Change in the Gobiid Fish Is Mediated through
 Rapid Switching of Gonadotropin Receptors from Ovarian to Testicular Portion or Vice
 Versa. Endocrinology 150, 1503–1511. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2008-0569
- Levavi-Sivan, B., Bogerd, J., Mañanós, E.L., Gómez, A., Lareyre, J.J., 2010. Perspectives on fish gonadotropins and their receptors. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Fish Reproduction 165, 412–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.07.019
- Liu, J., Wu, J., Wang, B., Zeng, S., Qi, F., Lu, C., Kimura, Y., Liu, B., 2014. Oral vaccination with a liposome-encapsulated influenza DNA vaccine protects mice against respiratory challenge infection. J. Med. Virol. 86, 886–894. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.23768
- Lorenzen, N., Cupit, P.M., Einer-Jensen, K., Lorenzen, E., Ahrens, P., Secombes, C.J., Cunningham, C., 2000. Immunoprophylaxis in fish by injection of mouse antibody genes. Nat. Biotechnol. 18, 1177. https://doi.org/10.1038/81169
- Luo, Y.-S., Hu, W., Liu, X.-C., Lin, H.-R., Zhu, Z.-Y., 2010. Molecular cloning and mRNA expression pattern of Sox9 during sex reversal in orange-spotted grouper (Epinephelus coioides). Aquaculture 306, 322–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.06.019
- Lv, W., Jiang, P., Wang, W., Wang, X., Wang, K., Chang, L., Fang, Y., Chen, J., 2017. Electrotransfer of single-chain LH gene into skeletal muscle induces early ovarian development of orange-spotted grouper (Epinephelus coioides). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2017.10.013
- Mazón, M.J., Gómez, A., Yilmaz, O., Carrillo, M., Zanuy, S., 2014. Administration of Follicle-Stimulating Hormone *In vivo* Triggers Testicular Recrudescence of Juvenile European Sea Bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). Biol. Reprod. 90, 6. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.113.110569
- Mazón, M.J., Zanuy, S., Muñoz, I., Carrillo, M., Gómez, A., 2013. Luteinizing Hormone Plasmid Therapy Results in Long-Lasting High Circulating Lh and Increased Sperm Production in European Sea Bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). Biol. Reprod. 88, 32. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.112.102640
- Murozumi, N., Nakashima, R., Hirai, T., Kamei, Y., Ishikawa-Fujiwara, T., Todo, T., Kitano, T., 2014. Loss of follicle-stimulating hormone receptor function causes masculinization and suppression of ovarian development in genetically female medaka. Endocrinology 155, 3136–3145. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2013-2060

- Mylonas, C.C., Fostier, A., Zanuy, S., 2010. Broodstock management and hormonal manipulations of fish reproduction. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Fish Reproduction 165, 516–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.03.007
- Patel, H.M., Ryman, B.E., 1976. Oral administration of insulin by encapsulation within liposomes. FEBS Lett. 62, 60–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(76)80016-6
- Pierre, S., Gaillard, S., Prévot-D'Alvise, N., Aubert, J., Rostaing-Capaillon, O., Leung-Tack, D., Grillasca, J.-P., 2008. Grouper aquaculture: Asian success and Mediterranean trials. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 18, 297–308. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.840
- Rahman, M.S., Takemura, A., Takano, K., 2000. Correlation between plasma steroid hormones and vitellogenin profiles and lunar periodicity in the female golden rabbitfish, Siganus guttatus (Bloch). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 127, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-0491(00)00240-6
- Rajesh Kumar, S., Ishaq Ahmed, V.P., Parameswaran, V., Sudhakaran, R., Sarath Babu, V., Sahul Hameed, A.S., 2008. Potential use of chitosan nanoparticles for oral delivery of DNA vaccine in Asian sea bass (Lates calcarifer) to protect from Vibrio (Listonella) anguillarum. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 25, 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2007.12.004
- Ramos, E.A., Relucio, J.L.V., Torres-Villanueva, C.A.T., 2005. Gene expression in tilapia following oral delivery of chitosan-encapsulated plasmid DNA incorporated into fish feeds. Mar. Biotechnol. N. Y. N 7, 89–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10126-004-3018-0
- Sadovy, Y.J., Donaldson, T.J., Graham, T.R., McGilvray, F., Muldoon, G.J., Phillips, M.J., Rimmer, M.A., Smith, A., Yeeting, B., 2003. While Stocks Last: The Live Reef Food Fish Trade. Asian Development Bank.
- Sáez, M.I., Vizcaíno, A.J., Alarcón, F.J., Martínez, T.F., 2017. Comparison of lacZ reporter gene expression in gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata) following oral or intramuscular administration of plasmid DNA in chitosan nanoparticles. Aquaculture 474, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.03.023
- Sanchís-Benlloch, P.J., Nocillado, J., Ladisa, C., Aizen, J., Miller, A., Shpilman, M., Levavi-Sivan, B., Ventura, T., Elizur, A., 2017. In-vitro and in-vivo biological activity of recombinant yellowtail kingfish (Seriola lalandi) follicle stimulating hormone. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., International Symposium on Reproductive Biology and Comparative Endocrinology 241, 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.03.001
- Takeuchi, H., Yamamoto, H., Niwa, T., Hino, T., Kawashima, Y., 1996. Enteral Absorption of Insulin in Rats from Mucoadhesive Chitosan-Coated Liposomes. Pharm. Res. 13, 896– 901. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016009313548
- Tan, J.H., Chan, W.K., 1997. Efficient gene transfer into zebrafish skeletal muscle by intramuscular injection of plasmid DNA. Mol. Mar. Biol. Biotechnol. 6, 98–109.
- Thongborisute, J., Tsuruta, A., Kawabata, Y., Takeuchi, H., 2006. The effect of particle structure of chitosan-coated liposomes and type of chitosan on oral delivery of calcitonin. J. Drug Target. 14, 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/10611860600648346
- Vimal, S., Abdul Majeed, S., Nambi, K.S.N., Madan, N., Farook, M.A., Venkatesan, C., Taju, G., Venu, S., Subburaj, R., Thirunavukkarasu, A.R., Sahul Hameed, A.S., 2014. Delivery of DNA vaccine using chitosan-tripolyphosphate (CS/TPP) nanoparticles in Asian sea bass, Lates calcarifer (Bloch, 1790) for protection against nodavirus infection. Aquaculture 420–421, 240–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2013.11.017
- Wu, G.-C., Li, H.-W., Tey, W.-G., Lin, C.-J., Chang, C.-F., 2017. Expression profile of amh/Amh during bi-directional sex change in the protogynous orange-spotted grouper

Epinepheluscoioides.PLOSONE12,e0185864.https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185864

- Xia, W., Zhou, L., Yao, B., Li, C.-J., Gui, J.-F., 2007. Differential and spermatogenic cell-specific expression of DMRT1 during sex reversal in protogynous hermaphroditic groupers. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 263, 156–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2006.09.014
- Zhang, Z., Lau, S.-W., Zhang, L., Ge, W., 2015. Disruption of Zebrafish Follicle-Stimulating Hormone Receptor (fshr) But Not Luteinizing Hormone Receptor (lhcgr) Gene by TALEN Leads to Failed Follicle Activation in Females Followed by Sexual Reversal to Males. Endocrinology 156, 3747–3762. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2015-1039
- Zohar, Y., Muñoz-Cueto, J.A., Elizur, A., Kah, O., 2010. Neuroendocrinology of reproduction in teleost fish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., Fish Reproduction 165, 438–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.04.017

Chapter 4 Final conclusions

Captive breeding of giant grouper is difficult due to their large size and late age at sexual maturation. In order to address this issue, the present study was undertaken to develop a method to induce early sexual maturation so that breeding could be done using smaller and younger broodstock. Follicle stimulating hormone, a pituitary gonadotropic hormone that regulates the early stages of oogenesis and spermatogenesis in fish, was utilized in this study. Using sexually immature tiger grouper as a model species, induction of gonadal development was done through intramuscular administration of recombinant giant grouper FSH (rggFSH) and oral administration of expression plasmid that codes for giant grouper FSH (pFSH).

Recombinant ggFSH was produced using the yeast *P. pastoris* expression system. Through *in vitro* bioassays, the rggFSH was shown to be capable of activating the FSH-Receptor and stimulating ovarian synthesis of Estardiol (E₂) and Testosterone (T). The use of recombinant protein technology enabled this study to obtain sufficient quantity of pure FSH to demonstrate the *in vivo* function of FSH in grouper reproductive development. The use of rggFSH also presented an advantage of not possessing biosafety risk (e.g. transmission of disease) which is associated with the use of pituitary extract.

Weekly intramuscular injection of rggFSH for 8 weeks in sexually immature tiger grouper promoted oocyte growth and development to cortical alveolar stage. This observation was concurrent with a significant increase in circulating E₂ level. Further treatment to 20 weeks resulted in the degeneration of oocytes, proliferation of spermatogonial cells and significant decrease in plasma E₂, which are all indicative of female to male sex change. These observations clearly show that the function of FSH in grouper reproductive development varies depending on the developmental stage of the gonad. Based on these results, we conclude that FSH initially simulates ovarian development but only up to cortical alveolar stage, after which it initiates sex reversal.

It was noted in the present study that the prolonged treatment with rggFSH to 38 weeks, after the initiation of sex reversal was observed (at 20 weeks), did not advance the transition of gonad to functional testis, as the accumulated spermatogonial cells remained largely undifferentiated. During this period, circulating 11KT, T and E₂ were restricted at basal level. Gene expression analysis showed that the rggFSH treatment significantly suppressed steroidogenic genes including *cyp11b* gene (involved in 11KT synthesis) as well as *cyp19a1a* and *foxl2* genes (involved in E₂ synthesis). These results show that the rggFSH actively inhibited steroidogenic activity while initiating female to male sex reversal. Therefore, we conclude that in the grouper, FSH-induced sex reversal involves a pathway that is independent of sex steroids. This also suggests that withdrawal of rggFSH-treatment might be needed in order to release the inhibition of sex steroid production which, in turn, would have advanced the female to male transition. Since the specific effect of FSH on fish gonadal development that is not mediated through steroid hormones is primarily unknown, this area merits deeper investigation.

Results from the present study show that individuals that exhibit cortical alveolar stage oocyte were prompted to initiate sex reversal when treated with rggFSH. This raises the question on how, and what, induces vitellogenesis in grouper. The involvement of luteinizing hormone during vitellogenesis is highly possible as it is capable of stimulating ovarian secretion of E₂, the known enhancer of vitellogenin synthesis. For FSH, regulation of vitellogenesis may require critical maintenance of low circulating level. The distinct or complementary roles of FSH and LH during this stage of gonadal development in grouper needs to be further evaluated.

The findings from the present study challenge the widely-accepted model of grouper sex reversal as a result of an interplay between androgen and estrogen. Results from this study suggest that the FSH actively inhibited androgen synthesis while successfully initiating sex reversal. On the other hand, it is clear that androgen's role in sex reversal is primarily focused on the differentiation of spermatogonial cells, which takes place at the late transition stage. This study recognizes that the complementary effect of FSH and androgens is fundamental to the completion of sex reversal. The interplay between FSH and androgens needs in-depth study in order to better understand the molecular basis of sex change in grouper.

An alternative administration method of FSH through oral delivery in plasmid form was assessed in the present study. In a short-term trial, single oral administration of liposome and chitosan-encapsulated pFSH resulted in the increase of circulating FSH protein level that peaked after 4 days and declined to basal level after 7 days. This confirmed that liposome and chitosan facilitated pFSH passage through digestive tract and *in vivo* expression. Results from the short-term trial provided the basis for further studies on optimizing treatment dose so as to manipulate the onset and duration of fed-pFSH *in vivo* expression for application in research or in the industry.

Long term weekly oral administration yielded physiological responses that were consistent with the effects of injected rggFSH. Initially, fed pFSH stimulated oocyte growth and development up to cortical alveolar stage and then initiated female to male sex reversal. Extended treatment with pFSH, however, did not advance the process of sex reversal but rather inhibited the expression of steroidogenic genes (i.e. *cyp11b*, *cyp19a1a* and *foxl2*), which resulted in the lack of sufficient level of androgen to stimulate differentiation of spermatogonial cells. These results reinforce the idea that FSH promotes either ovarian or testicular development, depending on the developmental stage of the gonad and recognises the cortical alveolar stage as a critical point where there is a shift in the effect of FSH. Results from this experiment also support the idea that the initiation of sex reversal by FSH is based on a steroid-independent mechanism. The present study is the first to demonstrate successful oral delivery of plasmid gonadotropin which impacted reproductive development in fish.

The successful oral delivery of pFSH provides an alternative hormonal administration method in aquaculture. Hormones are generally administered through injection which requires a labor intensive and stressful process of capturing, crowding, and exposing the fish to anesthetic agent. Oral delivery is an excellent method for inducing early maturation in a large stock of cultured fish or in large-sized fish such as giant groupers. With further optimization, hormones can be administered to obtain higher level and prolonged presence in the circulation. The method can also be used to administer LH which will significantly cut the time, labor and stress during routine induced-spawning operation.

Overall, this study has shown that sexual maturation in grouper can be successfully induced using FSH manipulation either through intramuscular injection of rggFSH or feeding of pFSH. The FSH treatment can be strategically employed to obtain either female or male broodstock. This study provides a valuable tool that could significantly shorten the period for broodstock development and will allow captive breeding using more manageable sized fish. By shortening

80

the life cycle in captivity, this will also hasten the progress in marker-assisted broodstock management programs. This study successfully addressed one of the major gaps in giant grouper captive breeding and can also be extended to other late-maturing and large-sized culture species.